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Capital Trust, Inc.

Investment Management / Real Estate Finonce

As an investment manager, we combine our broad real estate experience, unique capital markets
expertise and extensive network of contacts to create products which generate high risk-adjusted
returns for institutional investors. As a lender, we execute sophisticated transactions and implement
capital solutions on behalf of clients/borrowers who include the leading owners and investors
in the business. Our mission is to consistently produce superior returns for our investors and to
deliver superior service to our borrowers, partners and clients. Capital Trust, Inc. is traded on the New

York Stock Exchange under the symbol "CT". The company is headquartered in New York City.




Milestones

Closed CT Mezzanine Partners Il with
$845 million of committed equity.

Originated over $500 million of

new investments nationwide.

Repurchased more than one-third of
the Company's stock.

Increased earnings per share by 12%.




During 2001, we continued to build the

business that is Capital Trust’s future.

Shareholder Letter:

We began in late 1999 with a strategic blueprint to transform Capital Trust into an investment
management company. By sequentially converting the business model from an on-balance sheet
lender to a manager of third-party private capital, we sought to decrease financial leverage, increase
operating leverage and create a scalable platform for growth. Over time, corporate earnings would
be increasingly driven by fee revenues from managed accounts, thereby attracting a higher public

market multiple.

We laid the foundation in 2000 through our venture with Citigroup Investments Inc. and the
establishment of CT Mezzanine Partners 1, our first institutional fund. With Citigroup, we
secured a powerful strategic and capital partner to jumpstart CT's entry into the investment

management business.

In 2001 we completed the fundraising for CT Mezzanine Partners II, our flagship fund, establishing
Capital Trust as the industry leader in real estate mezzanine finance and a new force in the invest-

ment management arena.

Capital Trust was created to take advantage of opportunities spawned by the rapid evolution of the
real estate capital markets. Since inception, our forte has been providing flexible, value-added
financing for large single properties, portfolios and real estate operating companies. As manager
and significant co-investor, we will continue that investment strategy through CT Mezzanine
Partners II, now the largest dedicated fund in the sector With $845 million of committed equity
capital, the fund's scale will allow us to build a diversified portfolio while continuing to focus on
large, high quality transactions. We are particularly pleased that our new partners include some of

the most powerful and sophisticated institutional investors in the world.




As we enter 2002, we feel good about our Company's positioning and prospects but are well aware

of the challenges that still lie ahead. We anticipate a macro environment of gradual recovery that
eventually brings higher interest rates. For real estate, we expect that rent and occupancy levels will
decline further in 2002, with recovery in the property markets, as always, lagging the overall econ-
omy. In the near term, the impact of terrorism on the real estate capital markets — particularly for
large properties and large loans—will continue to be felt. In this environment, prudently deploy-
ing the capital entrusted to us will require ongoing discipline and selectivity We remain confident
that CT's mezzanine investment strategy —emphasizing high current yields coupled with downside

protection—will produce superior risk-adjusted returns in uncertain times.

Our primary mission is to maximize shareholder value. We believe that this can be accomplished
by building a focused, best-of-breed investment management business that generates a steady
stream of high quality earnings. Success will come by carefully adding complementary products
which expand the platform, create operating efficiencies and increase assets under management.
This is a multi-year plan, and the transformation may not always be smooth. However, the end
result is worth it: a firm that is admired for its integrity and quality, and valued for its ability to

produce results.

Thank you for your continued support.

/4 iR

Samuel Zell John R. Klopp
Chairman of the Board of Direciors Chief Executive Officer
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Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data has been derived from the Capital Trust, Inc. and subsidiaries’ (the “Company”) historical
financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, 1999, 1998, and 1997. Prior fo March 8, 2000,
the Company did not serve as investment manager for any funds under management and only the Company’s historical financial
information, as of and for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 reflect any operating results from its investment man-
agement business. For these reasons, the Company believes that, except for the information for the years ended December 31,
2001 and 2000, the following information is not indicative of the Company’s current business.

Years Ended December 31,

20601 2000 1999 1998 1997

(in thousands, except for per share data)
Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues:
Interest and investment income $ 67,728 $ 88,433 $ 89,839 $ 63,954 § 6,445
Income from equity investments in Funds 2,997 1,530 — — —
Advisory and investment banking fees 277 3,920 17,772 10,311 1,698
Management and advisory fees from Funds 7,664 373 — — —
Rental income —_ — — — 307
Gain/(loss) on sale of fixed assets and investments - (64) 35 — {(432)

Total revenues 78,660 94,192 107,646 74,265 8,018
Operating Expenses:
Interest expense 26,348 36,931 39,791 27,665 2,379
General and administrafive expenses 15,382 15,439 17,345 17,045 9,463
Rental property expenses - — — — 124
Provision for possible credit losses 748 5,478 4,103 3,555 462
Unrealized loss on derivative securities 542 — — — —
Depreciation and amortization 909 902 345 249 92

Total operating expenses 43,929 58,750 61,584 48,514 12,520
Income/(loss) before income tax expense and

distributions and amorfization on Convertible ‘

Trust Preferred Securities 34,731 35,442 46,062 25,751 (4,502)
Income tax expense 16,882 17,760 22,020 9,367 55
Income/ (loss) before distributions and amortization

on Convertible Trust Preferred Securities 17,849 17,682 24,042 16,384 (4,557)
Distributions and amortization on Convertible Trust

Preferred Securities, net of income tax benefit 8,479 7,921 6,966 2,941 —
Net Income/{Loss) 9,37@ 9,761 17,076 13,443 [4,557)
Less: Preferred Stock dividend and dividend requirement 606 1,615 2,375 3,135 1,471
Net income/{loss) allocable to Common Stock $ 8766 $ 8,146 $ 14701 $ 10,308 $ (6,028)
Per Share Information:
Net income/{loss) per share of Common Stock:

Basic $ 043 $ 035 $ 069 $ 057 $ (0.63

Diluted $ ©37 $ 033 $ 055 $ 044 $ (0.63)
Weighted average shares of Common Stock outstanding:

Basic 20,166 23,171 21,334 18,209 9,527

Diluted 36,124 29,692 43,725 30,625 9,527

As of December 31,
2007 2000 1999 1998 190¢7

Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets $678,800 $644,392 $827,808 $766,438 $317,366
Total liabilities 428,231 338,584 522,925 472,207 174,077
Convertible Trust Preferred Securities 147,947 147,142 146,343 145,544 —
Stockholders’ equity 102,628 158,666 158,540 148,687 143,289




Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Introduction

The Company is an investment management and real estate
finance company that operated principally as a balance
sheet lender until the commencement of its transition to the
investment management business in March 2000. Prior to
July 1997, the Company operated as a REIT, originating,
acquiring, operating and holding income-producing real
property and mortgage-related investments. The results for the
year ended December 31, 1999 reflect the Company’s prin-
cipal balance sheet lending operations. The results for the
years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 reflect both bal-
ance sheet lending and the investment management business.

The Company is successor to Capital Trust, a California busi-
ness trust, following consummation of the reorganization on
January 28, 1999, pursuant to which the predecessor ulti-
mately merged with and into the Company, which thereafter
continued as the surviving Maryland corporation. Each out-
standing predecessor class A common share of beneficial
interest was converted into one share of class A common stock,
par value $0.01 per share [“Class A Common Stock”), and
each outstanding predecessor class A 9.5% cumulative con-
vertible preferred share of beneficial interest was converted
into one share of class A 9.5% cumulative convertible pre-
ferred stock, par value $0.01 per share {“Class A Preferred
Stock”), of the Company. As a result, all of the predecessor’s
previously issued class A common shares of beneficial interest
have been reclassified as shares of Class A Common Stock
and all of the predecessor’s previously issued class A preferred
shares of beneficial interest have been reclassified as shares of
Class A Preferred Stock. Unless the context otherwise requires,
hereinafter references to the business, assefs, liabilities, capital
structure, operations and affairs of the Company include those
of the predecessor prior to the reorganization.

At the December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 fiscal year ends,
the Company had outstanding $150 million aggregate liquido-
tion amount convertible trust preferred securities which were
originally issued by the Company’s consolidated statutory trust
subsidiary, CT Convertible Trust | {the “Trust”), in July 1998 and
originally represented an undivided beneficial interest in the
assets of the Trust that consisted solely of the Company’s
$154,650,000 aggregate principal amount 8.25% step up
convertible junior subordinated debentures that were concur-
rently issued and sold to the Trust. The convertible trust preferred
securities were modified in May 2000 as discussed below.

As part of the Company’s transition to the investment man-
agement business, the Company entered into a venture with
Citigroup Investments Inc. (“Citigroup”) to co-sponsor, commit

to invest capital in and manage high-yield commercial real
estate mezzanine investment funds. Pursuant to the venture
agreement, the Company and Citigroup co-sponsored CT
Mezzanine Partners Il LP (“Fund II”}, the largest commercial
real estate mezzanine investment fund in the U.S. with fotal
equity commitments of $845.2 million, and made to it total
equity commitments of $49.7 million and $198.9 million,
respectively. The Company expects to earn approximately
$9.5 million of management and consulting fees annually
from its association with Fund Il during the investment period.
The Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, CT Investment
Management Co., LLC {"CTIMCO"), serves as the investment
manager to Fund Il and, in connection therewith, will earn
annual investment management fees equal to $8.1 million
during the investment period for the fund. CTIMCO also
expects fo earn $1.4 million of additional annual fees from
consulfing services to be rendered to Fund lI's general part-
ner during the investment period.

In connection with the organization of Fund Il and in accor-
dance with the venture agreement, in 2000, the Company
issued to an affiliate of Citigroup a warrant to purchase
4,250,000 shares of Class A Common Stock. In connection
with the closings on investor’s equity commitments to Fund Il
in 2001, the Company issued to an affiliate of Citigroup
warrants to purchase 4,278,467 shares of Class A Common
Stock. All such warrants have a $5.00 per share exercise
price, are currently exercisable and expire on March 8, 2005.

Fund Il is now the principal vehicle through which the Company
originates or acquires loans and investments in accordance
with the Company’s current investment program. Now that
CTIMCO will conduct the origination and acquisition activi-
ties on behalf of Fund I, the Company generally will not
originate or acquire loans or commercial mortgage-backed
securities ("CMBS") directly for its own balance sheet port-
folio with the working capital derived from maturing loans and
investments. Since new loans and CMBS investments will be
made by CTIMCO for Fund Il, the Company will use its avail-
able working capital to make contributions to Fund Il as and
when required. As a result, if the amount of the Company'’s
maturing loans and investments increases significantly before
excess capital is invested in Fund Il or other funds, or other-
wise accretively deployed, the Company may experience
shortfalls in revenues and lower earnings until offsetting
revenues are derived from funds under manogement or
other sources. The Company expects its total assets to remain
relatively constant, as additional reductions in loan assets
from satisfactions will require the Company to purchase
similar amounts of 40-Act qualifying assets.




Pursuant to the venture agreement, the Company agreed,

as soon as practicable, subject to certain conditions, fo take
the steps necessary for it to be treated as a REIT for tax pur-
poses. The earliest that the Company can qualify for election
to REIT status will be upon filing its tax return for the year
ended December 31, 2002. Based on the composition of its
assefs and the nature of its income, due in significant part to
the successful implementation of the Company's investment
management business, the Company does not meet the qualifi-
cations to elect to be taxed as a REIT at this time. In light

of its success with its investment management business, the
Company defermined that it was not advisable at this time to
pursue the changes to its business and assets that would be
necessary for it to qualify for taxation as a REIT. Therefore,
the Company requested Citigroup to waive the obligation,
which request was granted. The Company continues to pur-
sue alternative strategies for tax efficiency.

Balance Sheet Portfolio Developments
and Contributions to Funds

In fiscal year 2001, to facilitate complionce with the
Investment Company Act of 1940 {the “1940 Act’), the
Company purchased $97.5 million of Federal National
Mortgage Association fixed rate whole pool mortgoge-
backed securities that were subsequently sold at their amor-
tized cost of $97.3 million. The Company also purchased
$160.4 million of Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation
Gold fixed rate whole pool mortgage-backed securities. To
finance this purchase, the Company entered into eight repur-
chase obligations that mature in March 2002. The Company
sold the six Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation Gold
fixed rate securities with @ market value of $152.8 million at
December 31, 2001 for which the Company has a liability
to repurchase these assets for $147.9 million. The interest
rate in effect for the repurchase obligations at December 31,
2001 was 2.03%. The Company expects to enter info new
repurchase obligations at maturity. The Company also expects
to continue such investment activity in the future when and

if required for compliance purposes. As a consequence of
such investment activity, the Company will be required to
address financial statement effects of fair value changes in
such investments.

Since December 31, 2000, the Company funded $13.3 mil-
lion of commitments under three existing loans. The Company
received full satisfaction of five loans and a Certificated
Mezzanine Investment totaling $118.0 million and partial
repayments on seven loans and a Certificated Mezzanine
Investment totaling $17.7 million. At December 31, 2001,

the Company had outstanding loans and CMBS totaling
approximately $458 million and no additional commitments
for funding of outstanding loans.

The Company’s investment in CT Mezzanine Partners | LLC
(“Fund |” and together with Fund [I, the “Funds”) at December
31, 2001 is $25.0 million. Since December 31, 2000, the
Company has made equity contributions to Fund | of $25.3
million and Fund | has returned $28.8 million of equity. The
Company has capitclized costs of $4,752,000 that are
being amortized over the anticipated lives of the funds. As
of December 31, 2007, Fund | has outstanding loans and
investments totaling $165.2 million, all of which are perform-
ing in accordance with the terms of their agreements except
for one loan for $26.0 million which is in default and for
which, beginning June 30, 2001, the accrual of interest

was suspended.

Since April @, 2001, the Company has made equity contribu-
tions to Fund Il of $7.1 million and equity contributions to
Fund I's general partner of $2.7 million. The Company’s
remaining equity commitment to Fund Il and its general
partner is $42.0 million. The Company has capitalized costs
of $3.8 million relating to the formation of Fund Il that are
being amortized over the anticipated lives of the funds. The
Company's investment in Fund Il and its general parter at
December 31, 2001 is $13.2 million. As of December 31,
2001, Fund Il has outstanding loans and investments totaling
$485.4 million, all of which are performing in accordance
with the terms of their agreements.

Results of Operations for the Years Ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000

The Company reported net income allocable to shares of
Common Stock of $8,764,000 for the year ended December
31, 2001, an increase of $618,000 from the net income
allocable to shares of Common Stock of $8,146,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2000. This increase was primarily
the result of increased income from equity investments in the
Funds and related investment management and consulting
fees, reduced Preferred Stock dividends and a reduction in
the provision for possible credit losses offset by decreased
advisory and investment banking fees and decreased net
interest income from loans and other invesiments as the
Company continues its transition to the investment manage-
ment business. The Company expects additional reductions
in interest and related income that may not be offset by
increased income from investment management operations.




Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

Interest and related income from loans and other investments
amounted to $67,333,000 for the year ended December 31,
2001, a decrease of $20,352,000 from the $87,685,000
amount for the year ended December 31, 2000. Average
interest-earning assets decreased from approximately $681.5
million for the year ended December 31, 2000 to approxi-
mately $570.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2001.
The average interest rate earned on such assets decreased
from 12.8% in 2000 to 11.8% in 2001. During the year
ended December 31, 2001, the Company recognized an
additional $4.8 million on the early repayment of loans, while
during the year ended December 31, 2000, the Company
recognized an additional $4.7 million on the early repay-
ment of loans. Without this additional interest income and
after adjustment of the 2000 rates for the effect of recogniz-
ing net swap payments in inferest expense rather than interest
income, the earning rate for 2001 would have been 11.0%
versus 12.2% for 2000. The decrease in such core-earning
rate is due to a decrease in the average LIBOR rate from
6.41% for 2000 to 3.88% for 2001 for the assets earning
interest based upon a variable rate.

Interest and related expenses amounted to $26,238,000

for the year ended December 31, 2001, a decrease of
$10,474,000 from the $36,712,000 amount for the year
ended December 31, 2000. The decrease in expense was
due to a decrease in the amount of average interest-bearing
liabilities outstanding from approximately $393.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2000 to approximately $321.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2001, and a decrease
in the average rate paid on interestbearing liabiliies from 9.2%
to 8.2% for the same periods, after adjustment of the 2000
rates for the effect of recognizing net swap payments in interest
expense rather than interest income. The decrease in the aver-
age rate is not consistent with the decrease in the average
LIBOR rate for the same pericds due to a change in the mix
of interestbearing liabilities. In 2001, a higher percentage of
the interest-bearing liabilities are at a fixed rate, after adjust-
ing for interest rate swaps, which, in the current low LIBOR
rate environment, are at higher rates than that for variable
rate interestbearing liabilities.

The Company also utilized proceeds from the $150.0 million
of convertible frust preferred securities, which were issued on
July 28, 1998 to finance its inferestearning assets. During the
years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company
recognized $8,479,000 and $7,921,000, respectively, of
net expenses related to its outstanding convertible trust pre-
ferred securities. This amount consisted of distributions to the
holders totaling $15,237,000 and $14,246,000, respec-
tively, and amortization of discount and origination costs

totaling $799,000 and $799,000, respectively, during the
years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000. This was par-
tially offset by a tax benefit of $7,557,000 and $7,124,000
during the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respec-
tively. As previously disclosed, the terms of the Convertible Trust
Preferred Securities were modified effective May 10, 2000.
As a result, the blended rate on such securities increased
from 8.25% to 10.16% on that date accounting for the
increase in expense in 2001.

During the year ended December 31, 2001, other revenues
increased $4,820,000 to $11,327,000 frem $6,507,000 in
the same period of 2000. During the second quarter of 2000,
Fund | commenced operations and during the second quarter
of 2001, Fund Il commenced operations. This increase in
other revenue is due to increased revenue from the Funds
{management and advisory income in addition to the return
on investment in the funds) offset by a reduction in advisory
and investment banking fees as the Company continues its
transition to the investment management business.

Investment management and consulting fees from funds under
management has increased significantly since the closing of
Fund II. The Company earned $5,884,000 of investment
management fees from Fund Il and $1,015,000 of consulting
fees from the general partner of Fund Il in 2001. These addi-
tional fees account for the majority of the increase in invest-
ment management and consulting fees from 2000 to 2001.

For the year ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, the
Company had earned $2,991,000 and $1,530,000
respectively, on its equity investment in the Funds. The
increase in income in 2001 versus 2000 was due primarily to
the increased level of investment in the Funds offset by the sus-
pension of inferest on a Fund | asset.

General and administrative expenses remained relatively
consistent amounting to $15,382,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2001 versus $15,439,000 for year ended
December 31, 2000. In 2000, as the Company transitioned to
its new investment management business, it incurred onetime
expenses of $2.1 million that were included in general and
administrative expenses. The Company employed an average
of 27 employees during the year ended December 31, 2001
verses an average of 24 employees during the year ended
December 31, 2000. The Company had 28 fulltime employ-
ees and one partime employee at December 31, 2001.

The decrease in the provision for possible credit losses from
$5,478,000 for the year ended December 31, 2000 to
$748,000 for the year ended December 31, 2001 was due

to the decrease in average earning assets as previously




described. The Company did not add to the reserve for pos-
sible credit losses during the second, third or fourth quarter of
2001 os the Company believes that the reserve is adequate
based on the existing loans and investments in the balance
sheet portfolio.

For the year ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, the
Company accrued income tax expense of $16,882,000 and
$17,760,000, respectively, for federal, state and local income
taxes. The decrease (from 50.1% to 48.6%] in the effective
tax rate was primarily due to higher levels of compensation
in excess of deductible limits in the prior year.

The preferred stock dividend and dividend requirement arose
from previously issued shares of Class A Preferred Stock.
Dividends accrued on these shares af o rate of 9.5% per
annum on a per share price of $2.69. In the third quarter of
1999, 5,946,825 shares of Class A Preferred Stock were
converted into an equal number of shares of Class A Common
Stock thereby reducing the number of outstanding shares of
Preferred Stock to 6,320,833 and the dividend requirement
to $1,615,000 per annum. In 2001, the remaining shares
of Preferred Stock were repurchased thereby eliminating the
dividend requirement.

Results of Operations for the Years Ended
December 31, 2000 and 1999

The Company reported net income allocable to shares of
Common Stock of $8,146,000 for the year ended December
31, 2000, a decrease of $6,555,000 from the net income
allocable to shares of Common Stock of $14,701,000 for
the year ended December 31, 1999, This change was pri-
marily the result of a decrease in advisory and investment
banking fees, partially offset by the additional revenue gener-
oted from the investment in and management of Fund |.

Interest and related income from loans and other investments
amounted to $87,685,000 for the year ended December 31,
2000, a decrease of $905,000 from the $88,590,000 amount
for the year ended December 31, 1999. While average
interestearning assets decreased from approximately $749.7
million for the year ended December 31, 1999 to approxi-
mately $681.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2000,
the interest rate earned on such assets increased from 11.8% in
1999 to 12.8% in 2000. During the year ended December 31,
2000, the Company recognized an additional $4,726,000 on
the early repayment of seven loans, while during the year
ended December 31, 1999, the Company recognized an
additional $3,976,000 on the early repayment of five loans.
Also in 2000, two loans were in non-accrual status, which
reduced inferest income by $867,000 for the year ended

December 31, 2000. Without this additional interest income
{offset by the forgone interest on the non-accrual loans in
2000), the earning rate for 2000 would hove been 12.3%
versus 11.3% for 1999. This increase is due primarily to an
increase in the average LIBOR rate from 5.25% for 1999 to
6.41% for 2000.

Interest and related expenses amounted to $36,712,000
for the year ended December 31, 2000, a decrease of
$2,742,000 over the $39,454,000 amount for the year
ended December 31, 1999. The decrease in expense was
due to a decrease in the amount of average interest-bearing
liabilities outstanding from approximately $471.8 million for
the year ended December 31, 1999 to approximately $393.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2000, offset by an
increase in the average rate paid on interest-bearing liabili-
ties from 8.3% to 9.3% for the same periods. The increase in
the average rate is consistent with the increase in the average
LIBOR rate for the Company’s variable rate liabilities for the
same periods.

During the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, the
Company recognized $7,921,000 and $6,966,000, respec-
tively, of net expenses related to the Convertible Trust Preferred
Securities. This amount consisted of distributions to the hold-
ers totaling $14,246,000 and $12,375,000, respectively,
and amortization of discount and origination costs totaling
$799,000 and $799,000, respectively, during the years
ended December 31, 2000 and 1999. This was partially off-
set by a tax benefit of $7,124,000 and $6,208,000 during
the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
The increase in the amount from 1999 to 2000 was due

to the previously discussed increase in the rate paid on the
securities from 8.25% o 10.16% effective May 10, 2000.

During the year ended December 31, 2000, other revenues
decreased $12,549,000 to $6,507,000 from $19,056,000
in the same period of 1999. This decrease was primarily
due fo the reduction in advisory and investment banking fees
generated by Victor Capital and its related subsidiaries. The
significant reduction in resources devoted to the Company’s
investment banking and advisory operations following the transi-
tion to its new investment management business during the sec-
ond quarter of 2000 when Fund | commenced operations,
which generated $1,530,000 of income on the Company's
equity investment in Fund | and $373,000 of investment man-
agement fees in 2000.

Other expenses decreased from $22,130,000 for the year

ended December 31, 1999 to $22,038,000 for year ended
December 31, 2000. As the Company transitioned fo its new
investment management business, it incurred cnetime expenses




Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

of $2.1 million that were included in general and administra-
tive expenses and wrote off the remaining $275,000 of the
excess of purchose price for Victor Capital over net tangible
assefs acquired, net. When these special onetime expenses
are removed from other expenses, recurring other expenses for
the year ended December 31, 2000 decreased $2.5 million
from the some period in the prior year. During March 1999,
to reduce general and administrative expenses to o level in line
with budgeted business activity, the Company reduced its
workforce by approximately 30% and recorded a restructuring
charge of $650,000. This, along with a decrecse in average
staffing levels, primarily accounted for the decrease in recur-
ring general and administrative expenses. During the period
ended December 31, 2000, the Company had an average

of 24 fulltime employees as compared to an average of 34
during the period ended December 31, 1999. The increase in
the provision for possible credit losses from $4,103,000 for the
year ended December 31, 1999 to $5,478,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2000 was due to additional reserves
taken for non-performing loans at December 31, 2000.

For the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, the
Company accrued income tax expense of $17,760,000
and $22,020,000, respectively, for federal, state and local
income taxes. The increase in the effective tax rate [from

47 .8% to 50.1%) was primarily due to higher levels of com-
pensation in excess of deductible limits.

The preferred stock dividend and dividend requirement arose
in 1997 as a result of the Company’s issuance of $33 million of
Class A Preferred Stock on July 15, 1997. Dividends accrued
on these shares at a rate of 9.5% per annum on a per share
price of $2.69 for the 12,267,658 shares outstanding or
$3.135,000 per annum through the second quarter of 1999.
As discussed above, 5,946,825 shares of Preferred Stock
were converted into an equal number of shares of Common
Stock during the third quarter of 1999 thereby reducing the
number of outstanding shares of Preferred Stock to 6,320,833
and the dividend requirement to $1,615,00C per annum.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2001, the Company had $11,651,000 in
cash. The primary sources of liquidity for the Company for
2002 will be cash on hand, cash generated from operations,
principal and interest payments received on loans and invest-
ments (including loan repayments and the return of capital

from Fund I), and additional borrowings under the Company's
credit facilities. The Company believes these sources of
copital will adequately meet future cash requirements. The
Company expects that during 2002, it will use a significant
amount of its available capital resources to satisfy its capital
confribufions required in connection with its remaining $42.0
million equity commitment to Fund Il. The Company intends
to continue to employ leverage on its existing balance sheet
assets to enhance its return on equity.

The Company experienced a net increase in cash of $263,000
for the year ended December 31, 2001, compared to the net
decrease of $27,394,000 for the year ended December 31,
2000. The use of cash in 2000 was primarily to reduce lio-
bilities and fund equity contributions to Fund 1. Cash provided
by operating activities during the year ended December 31,
2001 was $12,769,000, compared to $11,878,000 during
the same period of 2000. For the year ended December 31,
2001, cash used in investing activities was $40,034,000,
compared to $155,552,000 provided by investing activities
during the same period in 2000. This change was primarily
due to the purchase of available-forsale securities in 2001.
The Company utilized the cash received on loan repayments
in both years to reduce borrowings under its credit facilities
and entered into repurchase obligations to finance the pur-
chase of available-for-sale securities which accounted for the
majority of the $222,352,000 change in the net cash used
in financing activities from $194,824,000 in 2000 to the
$27,528,000 of cash provided by financing activities in

the same period of 2001.

In 2000, the Company announced an open market share
repurchase program under which the Company may pur-
chase, from time to time, up to four million shares of the
Company’s Class A Common Stock. During fiscal year 2001,
the Company did not purchase any additional shares of the
Company’s Class A Common Stock pursuant to the repur-
chase program and has 1,435,600 shares authorized for
repurchase remaining under the program. However, during
fiscal year 2001, the Company repurchased 830,701 shares
of Closs A Common Stock, all 2,755,186 outstanding shares
of Class B Common Stock and all 6,320,833 outstanding
shares of Preferred Stock in three privately negotiated trans-
actions, The Company has and will continue to fund share
repurchases with available cash.




At December 31, 2001, the Company was party to two credit
facilities with commerciol lenders that provide for ¢ total of
$455 million of credit. One facility provided for a $355
million line of credit that matured in February 2002. The other
facility provides for an existing $100 million line of credit that
matures in July 2002, with on automatic nine-month amortizing
extension option, if not otherwise extended. At December 31,
2001, the Company had outstanding borrowings under the
credit facilities of $121,211,000, and had unused potential
credit of $319,765,000. The decrease in the omount outstand-
ing under the credit facilities from the amount outstanding at
December 31, 2000 was due to the use of cash received on
loan repayments to pay down the credit facilities offset by
additional borrowings to repurchase stock. In February 2002,
the $355 million credit facility matured and the assets financed
thereon were financed under a new term redeemable securi-
ties contract as described below. The remaining $100 million
credit facility provides the Company with adequate liquidity
for its shortterm needs.

The existing credit facility provides for advances to fund
lender-approved loans and investments made by the Com-
pany. The obligations of the Company under the credit facil-
ity are required to be secured by pledges of the assets
originated or acquired by the Company with advances under
the credit facility. Borrowings under the credit facility bear
interest at specified rates over LIBOR, which rates may fluc-
tuate, bosed upon the credit quality of the pledged assets.
Future repayments and redrawdowns of amounts previously
subject to the drawdown fee will not require the Company to
pay any additional fees. The credit facility provides for mar-
gin calls on asset-specific borrowings in the event of asset
quality and/or market value deterioration as determined
under the credit facility. The credit facility contains customary
representations and warranties, covenants and conditions
and events of default.

At December 31, 2001, the Company also has one outstand-

ing note payable for $977,000, outstanding borrowings on
its term redeemable securities contract of $137,132,000 and
outstanding repurchase obligations of $147,880,000. In con-
nection with the maturity of the credit facility and the term
redeemable securities contract in February 2002, the Company
entered into a new term redeemable securities contract with
the same counterparty, which cllows for a maximum financing
of $75 million. The new term redeemable securities contract has
a two-year term with an automatic one-year amortizing exten-
sion option, if not otherwise extended. The Company also

entered into two new repurchase obligations with new counter-
parties fo finance the remaining ossets financed under the origi-
nal term redeemable securities contract in February 2002.

The Company’s convertible trust preferred securities were
modified in May 2000 in a transaction pursuant to which
the outstanding securities were canceled and new variable
step up convertible rust preferred securities with an aggre-
gate liquidation amount of $150 million (“Convertible Trust
Preferred Securities”) were issued to the holders of the canceled
securities in exchange therefore, and the original underlying
convertible debentures were canceled and new 8.25% step
up convertible junior subordinated debentures in the aggre-
gate principal amount of $92,524,000 (the “Convertible
Debentures”) and new 13% step up non-<onvertible junior
subordinated debentures in the aggregate principal amount
of $62,126,000 (the “Non-Convertible Debentures” and
together with the Convertible Debentures, the “Debentures”)
were issued to the Trust, as the holder of the canceled bonds, in
exchange therefore. The liquidation amount of the Convertible
Trust Preferred Securities is divided into $89,742,000 of con-
vertible amount (the “Convertible Amount”) and $60,258,000
of nonconvertible amount {the “Non-Convertible Amount”}, the
distribution, redemption ond, as applicable, conversion terms
of which, mirror the interest, redemption and, as applicable,
the conversion terms of the Convertible Debentures and the
Non-Convertible Debentures, respectively, held by the Trust.

Distributions on the Convertible Trust Preferred Securities are
payable quarterly in arrears on each calendar quarter-end
and correspond to the payments of interest made on the
Debentures, the sole assets of the Trust. Distributions are
payable only to the extent payments are made in respect
to the Debentures. The Convertible Trust Preferred Securities
initially bear a blended coupon rate of 10.16% per annum
which rate will vary as the proportion of the outstanding
Convertible Amount to the outstanding Non-Convertible
Amount changes and will step up in accordance with the
coupon rate step up terms applicable to the Convertible
Amount and the Non-Converiible Amount.

The Convertible Amount bears a coupon rate of 8.25% per
annum through March 31, 2002 and increases on April 1,
2002 to the greater of (i) 10.00% per annum, increasing by
0.75% on October 1, 2004 and on each October 1 thereafter
or {ii} a percentage per annum equal to the quarterly dividend
paid on a common share multiplied by four and divided by
$7.00. The Convertible Amount is convertible info shares of




Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

Class A Common Stock, in increments of $1,000 in liquida-
tion amount, at a conversion price of $7.00 per share. The
Convertible Amount is redeemable by the Company, in whole or
in part, on or after September 30, 2004. The Non-Convertible
Amount bears a coupon rate of 13.00% per annum through
September 30, 2004, increasing by 0.75% on October 1,
2004 and on each October 1 thereafter. The Non-Convertible
Amount is redeemable by the Company, in whole or in part,
at any time.

Adoption of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 133

On January 1, 2001, the Company adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards {"SFAS”) No. 133, “Accounting
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended
by SFAS No. 138, “Accounting for Certain Derivative Instru-
ments and Certain Hedging Activities.” SFAS No. 133, as
amended, establishes accounting and reporting standards
for derivative instruments. Specifically SFAS No. 133 requires
an entity to recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabili-
ties in the consolidated balance sheets and to measure those
instruments at fair value. Additionally, the fair value adjust-
ments will affect either shareholders’ equity or net income
depending on whether the derivative instrument qualifies as

a hedge for accounting purposes and, if so, the nature of

the hedging activity. As of January 1, 2001, the adoption

of the new standard results in an adjustment of $574,000

to accumulated other comprehensive loss.

Financial reporting for hedges characterized as fair value
hedges and cash flow hedges are different. For those hedges
characterized as a fair value hedge, the changes in fair value
of the hedge and the hedged item are reflected in earnings
each quarter. In the case of the fair value hedge, the Company
is hedging the component of interest rate risk that can be
directly controlled by the hedging instrument, and it is this
portion of the hedged assets that is recognized in earnings.
The non-hedged balance is classified as an availablefor-sale
security consistent with SFAS No. 115, and is reported in
accumulated other comprehensive income. For those hedges
characterized as cash flow hedges, the unrealized gains/
losses in the fair value of these hedges are reported on the
balance sheet with a corresponding adjustment to either
accumulated other comprehensive income or in earnings,
depending on the type of hedging relationship. In accor-
dance with SFAS No. 133, on December 31, 2001, the
derivative financial instruments were reported at their fair
value as other assets and interest rate hedge liabilities of
$82,000 and $9,987,000, respectively.
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The Company is exposed to credit loss in the event of non-
performance by the counterparties (banks whose securities
are rated investment grade) to the interest rate swap and

cap agreements, although it does not anticipate such non-
performance. The counterparties would bear the interest rate
risk of such transactions as market interest rates increase. If
an interest rate swap or interest rate cap is sold or terminated
and cash is received or paid, the gain or loss is deferred and
recognized when the hedged asset is sold or matures.

Impact of September 11, 2001
and Terrorism Insurance

The terrorist attacks on The World Trade Centers in New York
City, the Pentagon in Washington, D.C. and in Pennsylvania
on September 11, 2001, have disrupted the U.S. Financial
markets and have negatively impacted the U.S. economy in
general. Any future terrorist attacks and the anticipation of
any such attacks, or the consequences of the military or other
response by the U.S. and its allies, may have a further adverse
impact on the U.S. financial markets and the economy. It is not
possible to predict the severity of the effect that such future
events would have on the U.S. financial markets and economy.

Although it is too early to determine fully how these events
will impact the Company, it is possible that the economic
impact of the ferrorist attacks will adversely affect the credit
quality of some of the Company's loans and investments.
Some of the Company’s loans and investments are more sus-
ceptible o the adverse effects than others, such as the hotel
loans, which experienced a significant reduction in occu-
pancy rates following the attacks. While the Company’s asset
base is diversified and the Company employs a variety of
techniques to enhance the credit quality of the assets, such as
dedicated cash reserves, letters of credit and guarantees, the
Company may suffer losses as a result of the adverse impact
of the attacks, or of future attacks and these losses may
adversely impact the Company’s financial performance.

In addition, the events of September 11 have created signifi-
cant uncertainty regarding the ability of real estate owners of
high profile assets to obtain insurance coverage protecting
against terrorist attacks at commercially reasonable rates,

if ot all. The issue is exacerbated by the fact that most insur-
ance policies {and the terrorism insurance that has tradition-
ally been a part of such policies) expire on December 31 of
each year and most secured loans typically require compre-
hensive ferrorism insurance. The absence of suitable insurance
coverage will likely affect the general real estate lending mar-
ket, lending volume and the market's overall liquidity. In turn,




real estate valuations may be impacted, particularly for asset
fypes seen as vulnerable to attack, including: central business
district office buildings, certain regional malls and assets located
near sites perceived as high-risk being the most sensitive. The
lack of resolution regarding affordable longterm terrorism
insurance coverage for all property types combined with the
general slow-down of the U.S. economy may negatively impact
existing loans and investments and may reduce the number of
suitable investment opportunities available to Fund Il and the
pace at which its investments are made. A reduction in asset
originations could adversely affect the Company’s ability to
grow earnings.

Impact of Inflation

The Company's operating results depend in port on the
difference between the interest income earned on its interest-
earning assets and the interest expense incurred in connec-
‘tion with its interest-bearing liobilities. Changes in the general
level of interest rates prevailing in the economy in response
to changes in the rate of inflation or otherwise can affect

the Company's income by affecting the spread between the
Company's inferestearning assefs and interestbearing liabilities,
as well as, among other things, the value of the Company’s
interest-earning assets and its ability to realize gains from the
sale of assets and the average life of the Company’s interest-
earning assets. Interest rates are highly sensitive to many
factors, including governmental monetary and tax policies,
domestic and international economic and political considera-
tions, and other factors beyond the control of the Company.
The Company employs the use of correlated hedging strate-
gies to limit the effects of changes in interest rates on its oper-
ations, including engaging in interest rate swaps and interest
rate caps to minimize its exposure fo changes in inferest rates.
There can be no assurance that the Company will be able

to adequately protect against the foregoing risks or that the
Company will ultimately realize an economic benefit from
any hedging contract into which it enters.

Note on Forward-Looking Statements

Except for historical information contained herein, this annual
report to shareholders contains forwardlooking statements
within the meaning of the Section 21E of the Securities and
exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which involve certain
risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements are
included with respect to, among other things, the Company’s
current business plan, businesses and investment strategy and
portfolio management. These forward-ooking statements are
identified by their use of such terms and phrases as “intends,”
“intend,” “intended,” “goal,” “estimate,” “estimates,” “expects,”
“expect,” "expected,” “project,” “projected,” “projections,”
“plans,” “anticipates,” “anticipated,” “should,” “designed
to,” “foreseeable future,” “believe,” “believes” and “sched-
uled” and similor expressions. The Company’s actual results
or outcomes may differ materially from those anticipated.
Readers are cautioned not fo place undue reliance on these
forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date
the stotement was made. The Company undertakes no obli-
gation to publicly update or revise any forward-ooking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future
events or oftherwise.

wou " u

The forward-looking statements contained in this annual
report fo shareholders are subject to certain risks and uncer-
tainties including, but not limited to, the continued perform-
ance, new origination volume and the rate of repayment of
the Company’s and its Funds’ loan and investment portfolio;
the continued maturity and satisfaction of the Company's
porffolio assets. Other important factors that the Company
believes might cause actual results to differ from any results
expressed or implied by these forwardlooking statements are
discussed in the cautionary statements contained in exhibit
99.1 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10K for the
fiscal year ending December 31, 2001, which are incorpo-
rated herein by reference. In assessing forward-looking
statements contained herein, readers are urged fo read care-
fully all cautionary statements contained in the Form 10-K
Annual Report.




Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Quantitative and Qualitative

The principal objective of the Company’s asset/liability manage-
ment activities is to maximize net interest income, while minimiz-
ing levels of interest rate risk. Net inferest income and interest
expense are subject to the risk of interest rate fluctuations. To
mitigate the impact of fluctuations in interest rates, the Company
uses interest rate swaps to effectively convert fixed rate assets to
variable rate assets for proper matching with variable rate liabil-
ities and variable rate liabilities to fixed rate liabilities for proper
matching with fixed rate assets. Each derivative used as a
hedge is matched with an asset or liability with which it has
a high correlation. The swap agreements are generally held-
to-maturity and the Company does not use derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes. The Company uses inferest
rate swaps to effectively convert variable rate debt to fixed
rate debt for the financed portion of fixed rate assets. The

Disclosures about Market Risk

differential to be paid or received on these agreements is
recognized as an adjustment to the interest expense related
to debt and is recognized on the accrual basis.

The following table provides information about the Company's
financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in inferest
rates at December 31, 2001. For financial assets and debt
obligations, the table presents cash flows to the expected
maturity and weighted-average interest rates based upon the
current carrying values. For interest rate swaps, the table
presents notional amounts and weighted-average fixed pay
and variable receive interest rates by contractual maturity
dates. Notional amounts are used fo calculate the contractual
cash flows o be exchanged under the contract. Weighted-
average variable rates are based on rates in effect as of the
reporting date.

Expected Maturity Dates

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 Thereafter Total Fair Value
(dollars in thousands)
Assets:
Availablefor-sale securities
Fixed Rate $ 14,265 $ 13,853  $16,061  $ 14114 $12,370  $ 81,841 $152,504  $152,789
Average interest rate 6.46% 6.46% 6.46% 6.46% 6.46% 6.46% 6.46%
CMBS
Fixed Rate — — —  $12047 $ 7811 $226,159  $246,017  $174,729
Average interest rate - — - 10.24% 14.66% 12.96% 12.88%
Variable Rate — $ 36,509 - — — —  $36509 % 35539
Average interest rate — 8.52% — — — — 8.52%
Loans receivable
Fixed Rate — - - - — $ 89231 $ 89,231  $ 90,585
Average interest rate — — — — - 11.66% 11.66%
Variable Rate $107,664  $ 10,417 331,542  $ 15166 $ 667 $ 6,555  $172,011  $170,237
Average interest rate 8.36% 9.67% 9.77% 8.26% 7.63% 7.63% 8.66%
Liabilities:
Credit Facilities
Variable Rate — $121,211 — - — — %1212 $121,211
Averoge inferest rate — 5.18% — — - — 5.18%
Term Redeemable Securities Contract
Variable Rate $137,812 — _ — — —  $137812  $137.132
Average inferest rate 5.35% - — — — — 5.35%
Repurchase obligations
Variable Rate $147,880 - — — - —  $147,880  $147,880
Average interest rate 2.03% — — - — - 2.03%
Convertible Trust Preferred Securities
Fixed Rate — — —  $150,000 — —  $150,000  $147,941
Average interest rate — - - 10.84% - — 10.84%
Interest rate swaps
Notional amounts —  $18,547 —  $137.812 — $ 48375 3204734 % (9,987
Average fixed pay rate - 6.04% — 6.05% — 6.06% 6.05%
Average variable receive rate — 2.14% - 1.93% - 2.14% 2.00%
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Report of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors
Coapital Trust, inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiories (the "Company”)

as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consol-

idated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and
cash Hows for each of the three years in the pericd ended
December 31, 2001. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsi-
bility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing stan-
dards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reason-
able assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated finan-
cial position of the Company at December 31, 2001 and
2000, and the consolidated results of their operations and
their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2001, in conformity with aecounting
principles generally accepted in the United States.

Saret ¥ MLLP

New York, New York
February 14, 2002 except for note 26,
as to which the date is February 28, 2002



Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 2001 and 2000

{in thousands)

2001 2000
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 11,651 $ 11,388
Availablefor-sale securities, at fair value 152,789 —
Commercial mortgage-backed securities availablefor-sale, at fair volue 270,268 215,516
Certificated mezzanine investment available-for-sale, at fair value = 22,379
Loans receivable, net of $13,695 and $12,947 reserve for possible credit losses at
December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2000, respectively 248,088 349,089
Equity investment in CT Mezzanine Partners | LLC {“Fund 1"}, CT Mezzanine
-Partners [I LP {“Fund 1I”) and CT MP Il LLC {“Fund Il GP"} (together “Funds”) 38,229 26,011
Deposits and other receivables 1,192 211
Accrued interest receivable 4,614 7,241
Deferred income taxes 9,763 8,719
Prepaid and other assets 2,206 3,838
Total assets $678,800 $644,392
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 9,842 $ 10,329
Notes payable 077 2,647
Credit facilities 121,211 173,641
Term redeemable securities contract 137,132 133,235
Repurchase obligations 147,880 16,569
Deferred origination fees and other revenue 1,202 2,163
Interest rate hedge liabilities 9,987 —
Total liabilities 428,231 338,584
Company-obligated, mandatory redeemable, convertible trust preferred securities of CT
Convertible Trust [, holding 589,742 of convertible 8.25% junior subordinated
debentures and $60,258 of non<convertible 13.00% junior subordinated debentures
of Capital Trust, Inc. (“Convertible Trust Preferred Securities”) 147,941 147,142
Stockholders’ equity:
Class A 9.5% cumulative convertible preferred stock, $0.01 par value, $0.26
cumulative annual dividend, no shares authorized, issued or outstanding at
December 31, 2001 and 12,639 shares authorized, 2,278 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2000 (“Class A Preferred Stock”) —_ 23
Class B 9.5% cumulative convertible non-voting preferred stock, $0.01 par value,
$0.26 cumulative annual dividend, no shares authorized, issued or outstanding at
December 31, 2001 and 12,639 shares authorized, 4,043 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2000 {“Class B Preferred Stock” and together
with Class A Preferred Stock, “Preferred Stock”) —_ 40
Class A common stock, $0.01 par value, 100,000 shares authorized, 18,332 and
18,967 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively 183 190
Class B common stock, $0.01 par value, 100,000 shares authorized, no shares issued
and outstanding at December 31, 2001 and 2,755 shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2000 (“Class B Common Stock”) — 28
Restricted Class A Common Stock, $0.01 par value, 396 and 264 shares issued
and outstanding at December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2000, respectively
{"Restricted Class A Common Stock” and together with Class A Common Stock and
Class B Common Stock, “Common Stock”) 3
Additional paid-in capital 136,805 181,507
Unearned compensation (583) (468)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (29,909) (10,152)
Accumulated deficit (3,872) (12,505)
Total stockholders’ equity 102,628 158,666
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $678,800 $644,392

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations

For the Years Ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999

{in thousands, except per share data)

2001 2000 1999
Income from loans and other investments:
Interest and related income $ 67,333 $ 87,685 $ 88,590
Less: Interest and related expenses (26,238) (36,712) {39,454)
Income from loans and other investments, net 4%,095 50,973 49,136
Other revenues:
Management and advisory fees from Funds managed 7,664 373 —
income from equity investments in Funds 2,991 1,530 —
Advisory and investment banking fees 277 3,920 17,772
Other interest income 395 748 1,249
Gain/[loss) on scle of fixed assets and investments — (64) 35
Total other revenues 19,327 6,507 19,056
Other expenses:
General and administrative 15,382 15,439 17,345
Other interest expense 110 219 337
Depreciation and amortization 209 902 345
Unreclized loss on derivative securities 342 — —
Provision for possible credit losses 748 5,478 4,103
Total other expenses 17,691 22,038 22,130
Income before income taxes and distributions and amortization
on Convertible Trust Preferred Securities 34,731 35,442 46,062
Provision for income taxes 16,882 17,760 22,020
income before distributions and amortization on Convertible '
Trust Preferred Securities 17,849 17,682 24,042
Distributions and amortization on Convertible Trust Preferred
Securities, net of income tax benefit of $7,557, $7,124 and
$6,208 for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999, respectively 8,479 7,921 6,966
Net income 9,370 2,761 17,076
Less: Preferred Stock dividend 606 1,615 2,375
Net income allocable to Common Stock $ 8,764 $ 8,146 $ 14,701
Per share information:
Net earnings per share of Common Stock
Basic $ 0.43 $ 035 $  0.69
Diluted $ 0.37 $ 033 $ 0455
Weighted average shares of Common Stock outstanding
Basic 20,166,319 23,171,057 21,334,412
Diluted 36,124,105 29,691,927 43,724,731

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

17




Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

For the Years Ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999

(in thousands)

Class A Class B
Comprehensive  Preferred  Preferred
[ncome/(Loss) Stock Stock
Balance ot January 1, 1999 $123 $ —
Net income $ 17,076 — —
Change in unrealized loss on available-for-sale
securities, net of related income taxes {5,499 — —
Conversion of Class A Common and
Preferred Stock to Class B Common and Preferred Stock . {40) 40
Conversion of Class A Preferred Stock to Class A Common Stock — (60) —
Issuance of Claoss A Common Stock unit awards — — —
Cancellation of previously issued restricted Class A Common Stock _ — —
Issuance of restricted Class A Common Stock - — —
Restricted Class A Common Stock earned - — —
Dividends paid on Preferred Stock —_ — —
Balance at December 31, 1999 $ 11,577 $ 23 $ 40

Net income 9,761 —_
Change in unrealized loss on availablefor-sale
securities, net of related income taxes 12 —

Conversion of Class A Common Stock to Class B Common Stock — —
Issuance of warrants to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock — —
Issuance of Class A Common Stock unit awards —_ —
Cancellation of previously issued restricted Class A Common Stock — —
Issuance of restricted Class A Common Stock — —
Restricted Class A Common Stock which vested and

was issued as unrestricted Class A Common Stock — —
Restricted Class A Common Stock earned — —
Dividends paid on Preferred Stock — —
Repurchase and retirement of shares of Class A

Common Stock previously outstanding — —

Balance at December 31, 2000 $ 9,773 $ 23
Net income 9,370 —
Transition adjustment for recognition of derivative financial instruments — —
Unrealized loss on derivative financial instruments, net of related income taxes (2,963) —
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities, net of related income taxes {16,220) —

Issuance of warrants to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock — —
Issuance of Class A Common Stock unit awards — —
Issuance of restricted Class A Common Stock — —
Restricted Class A Common Steck earned — —
Vesting of restricted Class A Common Stock to unrestricted Class A Common Stock
Dividends paid on Preferred Stock
Repurchase and retirement of shares of

Class A Common Stock previously outstanding

Balance at December 31, 2001

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.




Restricted

Accumulated

Class A Class 8 Class A Additional Other
Common Common  Common Paid-In Unearned Comprehensive  Accumulated
Stock Stock Stock Capital Compensation tncome/(Loss) Deficit Total
$182 $ — $1 $ 188,816 $ (418) $ (4,665) $(35,352) $ 148,687
— — —_ — — —_ 17,076 17,076
— — — — — (5,499) — (5,499)
{23) 23 — — — — — —
60 — — — — — — —
— — — 312 — — — 312
— — (1) (271) 180 — — (92)
— — 1 599 (600} — — -
— —_ — — 43) — — 431
— — — — — — [2,375) {2,375)
$219 $23 $ 1 $ 189,456 $ (407 $ (10,164) $(20,651) $ 158,540
_ _ _ _ — — 9,761 9,761
— — — — — 12 — 12
) 5 — — - - - -
— - — 1,360 — — — 1,360
] — — 624 — — — 625
— — (1) (279) 182 — — (98)
— — 3 947 (950) — — —
— —_ — — 707 — — 707
- — — — — — (1,615) {1,615
(25) — — (10,601) — — — (10,624)
$190 $ 28 $3 $ 181,507 $ (468) $ (10,152) $(12,505) $ 158,666
- — — —_ — — 9,370 9,370
— — — — — (574) — (57 4)
_ — _ — — (2,963 — (2,963)
— — — — — {16,220) — {16,220)
— - — 3,276 — — — 3,276
] — — 624 - — - 625
— — 2 1,023 {1,025 — — —
— — — — 910 — — 210
1 — {1 — — — — —
_ _ _ — — - (737) (737)
©) (28) — (49,625 — — — (49,725)
$183 $ — $4 $136,805 $ (583) $(29,909) $(3,872) $102,628




Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999

(in thousands)

2001 2000 1999
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 9,370 $ 9,761 $ 17,076
Adjustments fo reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Deferred income taxes (1,044) (3,351) {2,339)
Provision for credit losses 743 5,478 4,103
Depreciation and amortization o0 902 345
Income from equity investments in Funds (2,991) {1,530} —
Unrealized loss on hedged and derivative securities 542 — —
Restricted Class A Common Stock earned 910 707 431
Amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts on loans and investments, net (2,833) (2,683) {1,032)
Accretion of discount on term redeemable securities contract 3,897 3,593 2,757
Accretion of discounts and fees on Convertible Trust Preferred Securities, net 799 799 799
Gain on sale of investments —_ — (35)
Loss on sale of fixed assets - 64 —
Expenses reversed on cancellation of restricted stock previously issued - (98} (92)
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Deposits and other receivables , (981) 322 (132)
Accrued interest receivable 2,627 2,287 {1,487)
Prepaid and other assets 1,659 353 2,417
Deferred origination fees and other revenue (961) (1,248) (1,037}
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 138 {3.478) 2,388
Net cash provided by operating activities 12,769 11,878 24,162
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of available-forsale securities (257,877 - —
Principal collections on and proceeds from sales of availablefor-sale securities 103,038 - 3,344
Purchases of commercial morigage-backed securities - — (185,947)
Cash received on commercial mortgage-backed securities recorded as discount - 1,446 —
Advances on and purchases of certificated mezzanine investments - — [985)
Principal collections on certificated mezzanine investments 22,379 23,053 1,033
Crigination and purchase of loans receivable {13,319) (14,192) (103,732)
Principal collections on and proceeds from sales of loans receivable 112,585 169,227 209,792
Equity investments in Funds {35,599) {36,606} —
Return of capital from Funds 28,942 13,107 —
Purchases of equipment and leasehold improvements (183) (495) (57}
Proceeds from sale of equipment - 12 —_
Net cash provided by {used in) investing activities (40,034) 155,552 (76,552)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from repurchase obligations 251,303 — 3,929
Repayment of repurchase obligations (120,192) (12,134) [54,626)
Proceeds from credit facilities 191,870 56,000 214,246
Repayment of credit facilities (244,300) [225,622) [242,737)
Repayment of notes payable (891) [827) {773)
Net proceeds from issuance of term redeemable securities contract —_ — 126,885
Dividends paid on Class A Preferred Stock {(737) {1,615) {2,375}
Repurchase and retirement of shares of Common
and Preferred Stock previously outstanding (49,725) (10,626} —
Net cash provided by {used in) financing activities 27,528 {194,824) 44,549
Net increase/(decrease] in cash and cash equivalents 263 (27,394) (7,841)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 11,388 38,782 46,623
Cosh and cash equivalents at end of yeor $ 11,651 $ 11,388 $ 38,782

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999

1. Organization

Capital Trust, Inc. (the “Company”) is an investment manage-

ment and real estate finance company designed to take advan-

tage of high-yielding lending and invesiment opportunities in
commercial real estate and related assets. The Company's
business strategy is to continue to expand its investment man-
agement business by sponsoring other real estate related
investment funds. The Company’s current investment program
emphasizes senior and junior commercial mortgage loans, cer-
tificated mezzanine investments, direct equity investments and
subordinated interests in commercial mortgage-backed securi-
ties ("CMBS”). The Company also continues to manage its
existing portfolio of balance sheet assets originated prior to the
Company's fransition to the investment management business.

The Company is successor to Capital Trust, a California busi-
ness trust, following consummation of the reorganization on
January 28, 1999, pursuant to which the predecessor ulti-
mately merged with and into the Company, which thereafter
continued as the surviving Maryland corporation. Each out-
standing predecessor class A common share of beneficial
interest {“Class A Common Share”} was converted into one
share of class A common stock, par value $0.01 per share
(“Class A Common Stock”), and each outstanding predeces-
sor class A 9.5% cumulative convertible preferred share of
beneficial interest (“Class A Preferced Share”} was converted
into one share of class A 9.5% cumulative convertible pre-
ferred stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Class A Preferred
Stock”), of the Company. As a result, all of the predecessor’s
previously issued class A common shares of beneficial interest
have been reclassified as shares of Class A Common Stock
and all of the predecessor’s previously issued class A preferred
shares of beneficial interest have been reclossified as shares of
Class A Preferred Stock. Unless the context otherwise requires,
hereinafter references to the business, assets, liabilities, capital
structure, operations and affairs of the Company include those
of the predecessor prior to the reorganization.

2. Venture with Citigroup Investments Inc.

As part of the Company’s transition to the investment man-
agement business, on March 8, 2000, the Company entered
info a venture with affiliates of Citigroup Investments Inc. (col-
lectively “Citigroup”) pursuant to which they agreed, among
other things, to co-sponsor, commit to invest capital in, and
manage a series of high-yield commercial real estate mezza-
nine investment opportunity funds.

Pursuant to the governing venture agreement, the Company
and Citigroup formed CT Mezzanine Partners | LLC {“Fund 1”)
in March 2000, to which a Citigroup affiliate and a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, as members thereof,
made capital commitments of $150 million and $50 million,
respectively. Pursuant to the venture agreement, the Company
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and Citigroup co-sponsored the second commercial real
estate mezzanine investment fund, CT Mezzanine Partners |l
LP (“Fund 11”), which effected its final closing on third party
investor equity commitments in August 2001. Fund Il has total
equity commitments of $845.2 million including $49.7 million
and $198.9 million made by the Company and Citigroup,
respectively. A wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, CT
Investment Management Co., LLC (“CTIMCO"), serves as the
exclusive investment manager to Fund | and Fund I.

Based upon the $845.2 million aggregate capital commitments
made at the initial and subsequent closings, the Company
expects to earn approximately $9.5 million of management
and advisory fees annually from its association with Fund |l
during the investment pericd. CTIMCO serves as the invest-
ment manager fo Fund |l and in connection therewith will earn
annual investment management fees equal to $8.1 million dur-
ing the investment period for the fund. CTIMCO also expects
to earn $1.4 million of additional annual fees from consulting
services to be rendered to Fund (I's general partner.

In connection with the organization of Fund |, the Company
issued a warrant to purchase 4.25 million shares of Class A
Common Stock. In connection with the closings on investor
equity commitments to Fund i, the Company issued to Citigroup
warrants to purchase 4,278,467 shares of its Class A Common
Stock. In total, the Company has issued to Citigroup four war-
rants to purchase 8,528,467 shares of its Class A Common
Stock which have a $5.00 per share exercise price, are cur-
renfly exercisable and expire on March 8, 2005. The Company
has no further obligations to issue additional warrants to
Citigroup at December 31, 2001.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company include
the accounts of the Company, CTIMCO {as described in Note
2) CTF1, LIC {a wholly owned subsidiary and direct member
and equity owner of Fund 1), CT-F2-LP, LIC {a wholly owned
subsidiary and limited partner of Fund Il), CT-F2-GP, LLC (a
wholly owned subsidiary and direct member and equity owner
of Fund Il GP), CT-BB Funding Corp. (@ wholly owned sub-
sidiary which purchased fifteen CMBS securities as described
in Note 5), CT Convertible Trust | {as described in Note 14),
Natrest Funding |, Inc. {a wholly owned single purpose sub-
sidiary which held one Mortgage loan) and VIC, Inc., which
together with the Company wholly owns Victor Capital Group,
L.P. {*Victor Capital”) and other related subsidiaries including:
VCG Montreal Management, Inc., Victor Asset Management
Partners, L.L.C., VP Metropolis Services, L.L.C., and 970
Management, LLC. All significant intercompany balances

and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.




Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

During the year ended December 31, 2000, the Company
dissolved the following subsidiaries: Natrest Funding |, Inc.,
Victor Asset Management Partners, L.L.C., VP Metropolis
Services, L.L.C., and 970 Management, LLC.

Revenue Recognition

Interest income for the Company’s mortgage and other loans
and investments is recognized over the life of the investment
using the effective interest method and recognized on the
accrual basis.

Fees received in connection with loan commitments, net of
direct expenses, are deferred until the loan is advanced and
are then recognized over the term of the loan as an adjust-
ment to yield. Fees on commitments that expire unused are
recognized at expiration. Anticipoted exit fees are also rec-
ognized over the term of the loan as an adjustment to yield.

Income recognition is generally suspended for loans at the
earlier of the date at which payments become 90 days past
due or when, in the opinion of management, a full recovery
of income and principal becomes doubtful. Income recogni-
tion is resumed when the loan becomes contractually current
and performance is demonstrated to be resumed.

Fees from investment management services are recognized
when earned on an accrual basis. Fees from professional

advisory services are generally recognized at the point at
which all Company services have been performed and no
significant contingencies exist with respect to entitlement to
payment. Fees from asset management services are recog-
nized as services are rendered.

Reserve for Possible Credit Losses

The provision for possible credit losses is the charge to income
to increase the reserve for possible credit losses to the level
that management estimates to be adequate considering delin-
quencies, loss experience and collateral quality. Other factors
considered relate to geographic trends and product diversifi-
cation, the size of the portfolio and current economic condi-
tions. Based upon these factors, the Company establishes the
provision for possible credit losses by category of asset. When
it is probable that the Company will be unable to collect all
amounts contractually due, the account is considered impaired.
Where impairment is indicated, a valuation write-down or
write-off is measured based upon the excess of the recorded
investment amount over the net fair value of the collateral, as
reduced by selling costs. Any deficiency between the carry-
ing amount of an asset and the net sales price of repossessed
collateral is charged to the reserve for credit losses.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company classifies highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase
as cash equivalents. At December 31, 2001, cash equivalents
of approximately $11.9 million consisted of an overnight invest-
ment in JP Morgan commercial paper. At December 31, 2000,
cash equivalents of approximately $11.4 million consisted of an
investment in a money market fund that invests in U.S. Treasury
bills. The Company had no bank balances in excess of feder-
ally insured amounts at December 31, 2001 and 2000. The
Company has not experienced any losses on its demand
deposits, commercial paper or money market investments.

Available-for-Sale Securities

Availablefor-sale securities are reported on the consolidated
balance sheet at fair value with any corresponding temporary
change in value reported as an unrealized gain or loss (if
assessed fo be temporary), os a component of comprehensive
income in stockholders’ equity, net of related income taxes.

Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities ("CMBS")

Commercial mortgage-backed securities available-for-sale
are reported on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value
with any corresponding temporary change in value resulting
in an unrealized gain/(loss) being reported as a component
of accumulated other comprehensive income/{loss) in the
stockholders’ equity section of the balance sheet, net of
related income taxes.

Income from CMBS is recognized based on the effective inter-
est method using the anticipated yield over the expected life of
the investments. Changes in yield resulting from prepayments
are recognized over the remaining life of the investment. The
Company recognizes impairment on its CMBS whenever it
determines that the impact of expected future credit losses, as
currently projected, exceeds the impact of the expected future
credit losses as originally projected. Impairment losses are
determined by comparing the current fair value of a CMBS fo
its existing carrying amount, the difference being recognized
as a loss in the current period in the consolidated statements
of operations of the period in which the loss is identified.
Reduced estimates of credit losses are recognized os an
adjustment to yield over the remcining life of the portfolio.
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Certificated Mezzanine Investments

Certificated mezzanine investments available-for-sale are
reported on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value
with any corresponding temporary change in value resulting
in an unrealized gain/(loss) being reported as a component
of accumulated other comprehensive income/{loss) in the
stockholders’ equity section of the balance sheet, net of
related income taxes. See Note 6.

Equity Investment in CT Mezzanine Partners I LLC
(“Fund I"), CT Mezzanine Partners II LP (“Fund II") and
CT MP II LLC (“Fund II GP") (together “Funds”)

As the Funds are not majority owned or controlled by the
Company, the Company does not consolidate the Funds in
its consolidated financial statements. The Company accounts
for its interest in the Funds on the equity method of accounting.
As such, the Company reports a percentage of the earnings
of the Funds equal to its ownership percentage on a single
line item in the consolidated statement of operations as
income from equity investments in the Funds.

Derivative Financial Instruments

In the normal course of business, the Company uses a variety
of derivative financial instruments to manage, or hedge, inter-
est rate risk. The Company requires derivative financial instru-
ments to be effective in reducing its interest rate risk exposure.
This effectiveness is essential for qualifying for hedge
accounting. When the terms of an underlying transaction
are modified, or when the underlying hedged item ceases
to exist, all changes in the fair value of the instrument are
marked+o-market with changes in value included in net income

each period until the derivative instrument matures or is settled.

Any derivative instrument used for risk management that does

not meet the hedging criteria is marked-to-market each period.

The Company uses interest rate swaps to effectively convert
variable rate debt to fixed rate debt for the financed portion
of fixed rate assets. The differential to be paid or received
on these agreements is recognized as an adjustment to the
interest expense related to debt and is recognized on the
accrual basis.

The Company also uses interest rate caps to reduce its expo-
sure to interest rate changes on investments. The Company
will receive payments on an interest rate cap should the vari-
able rate for which the cap was purchased exceed o specified
threshold level and will be recorded as an adjustment to the
interest income related to the reloted earning asset.
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To determine the fair values of derivative instruments, the
Company uses a variety of methods and assumptions that
are based on market conditions and risks existing at each
balance sheet date. For the majority of financial instruments
including most derivatives, long-term investments and long-
term debt, standard market conventions and techniques such
as discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models,
replacement cost, and termination cost are used to determine
fair value. All methods of assessing fair value result in a
general approximation of value, and such value may never
actually be realized.

The swap and cap agreements are generally held-to-maturity
and the Company does not use derivative financial instruments
for trading purposes.

Equipment and Leaschold Improvements, Net

Equipment and leasehold improvements, net, are stated at
original cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization.
Depreciation is computed using the straightline method based
on the estimated lives of the depreciable assets. Amortization
is computed over the remaining terms of the related leases.

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged directly
to expense at the time incurred. Expenditures determined to
represent additions and betterments are capitalized. Cost of
assets sold or retired and the related amounts of accumulated
depreciation are eliminated from the accounts in the year of
sale or retirement. Any resulting profit or loss is reflected in
the consolidated statement of operations.

Sales of Real Estate

The Company complies with the provisions of the FASB's
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 66,
“Accounting for Sales of Real Estate.” Accordingly, the
recognition of gains is deferred until such transactions have
complied with the criteria for full profit recognition under the
statement. The Company had deferred gains of $239,000 ot
December 31, 1999, which were written-off during the year
ended December 31, 2000 when the related loan was deter-
mined to be uncollectible.

Deferred Debt Issuance Costs

The Company capitalizes costs incurred related to the issuance
of longterm debt. These costs are deferred and amortized on
a straightline basis over the life of the related debt, which
approximates the levelyield method, and recognized as a
component of inferest expense.
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Income Taxes

The Company records its income taxes in accordance with the
FASB's Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109,
“Accounting for Income Toxes” (“SFAS No. 109”). Under
SFAS No. 109, deferred income taxes are recognized for
the tax consequences of “temporary differences” by applying
statutory tax rates for future years to differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of
existing assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets are recog-
nized for temporary differences that will result in deductible
amounts in future years and for carryforwards that are use-
able in future years. A valuation allowance is recognized if
it is more likely than not that some portion of the deferred
asset will not be recognized. When evaluating whether a
valuation allowance is appropriate, SFAS No. 109 requires
a company fo consider such factors as previous operating
results, future earning potential, tax planning strategies and
future reversals of existing temporary differences. The valuo-
tion allowance is increased or decreased in future years
based on changes in these criteria.

Pursuant to its venture agreement with Citigroup, the Company
was obligated to take the steps necessary for it to be taxed as
a Real Estate Investment Trust (“REIT”) for the 2002 tax year.
Based on the composition of its assets and the nature of its
income due in significant part to the successful implementa-
tion of the Company’s investment management business, the
Company does not meet the qualifications to elect to be taxed
as a REIT at this time. In light of its success with its investment
management business, the Company does not believe that it
is advisable at this time to pursue the changes to its business
and assets that would be necessary for it to qualify for taxation
as a REIT and therefore requested Citigroup waive the obliga-
tion, which request was granted by Citigroup. The Company
continues fo pursue alternative strategies for tax efficiency.

Amortization of the Excess of Purchase Price
Over Net Tangible Assets Acquired

The Company recognized the excess of purchase price over net
tangible assets acquired in a business combination accounted
for as a purchase fransaction and is amortizing it on a straight-
line basis over a period of 15 years. The carrying value of the
excess of purchase price over net tangible assets acquired was
analyzed quarterly by the Company based upon the expected
revenue and profitability levels of the acquired enterprise to
determine whether the value and future benefit may indicate
a decline in value. If the Company determined that there had
been a decline in the value of the acquired enterprise, the
Company would have written down the value of the excess
of purchase price over net tangible assets acquired to the
revised fair value.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States
requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and lichilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the consolidated financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Comprehensive Income

Effective January 1, 1998, the Company adopted the FASB's
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130,
“Reporting Comprehensive Income” (“SFAS No. 130”). The
statement changes the reporting of certain items currently
reported in the stockholders’ equity section of the balance
sheet and establishes standards for reporting of comprehensive
income and its components in a full set of general-purpose
financial statements. Total comprehensive income/(loss) was
(39,813,000}, $9,773,000 and $11,577,000 for the years
ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
The primary component of comprehensive income other than
net income was the unrealized gain/(loss) on derivative
financial instruments and availoble-forsale securities, net of
related income taxes.

Eamnings Per Share of Common Stock

Earnings per share of Common Stock are presented based
on the requirements of the FASB’s Statement of Accounting
Standards No. 128 (“SFAS No. 128"). Basic EPS is com-
puted based on the income applicable to Common Stock
{which is net income or loss reduced by the dividends on the
Preferred Stock) divided by the weighted average number of
shares of Common Stock outstanding during the period. Diluted
EPS is based on the net earnings applicable to Common
Stock plus, if dilutive, dividends on the Preferred Stock and
interest paid on Convertible Trust Preferred Securities, net of
tax benefit, divided by the weighted average number of
shares of Common Stock and potentially dilutive shares of
Common Stock that were outstanding during the period. At
December 31, 2001, potentially dilutive shares of Common
Stock include the convertible Preferred Stock, dilutive Common
Stock warrants and options and future commitments for stock
unit awards. At December 31, 2000, potentially dilutive
shares of Common Stock include the convertible Preferred
Stock, Convertible Trust Preferred Securities and future com-
mitments for stock unit awards. At December 31, 1999,
potentially dilutive shares of Common Stock include the con-
vertible Preferred Stock and dilutive Common Stock options.




Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made in the presentation
of the 2000 and 1999 consolidated financial statements to
conform to the 2001 presentation.

Segment Reporting

As the Company manages its operations as one segment, sep-
arate segment reporting is not presented for 2001, 2000 and
1999, as the financial information for that segment is the same
as the information in the consolidated financial statements.

4. Available-for-Sale Securities

At December 31, 2001, the Company’s available-forsale
securities consisted of the following (in thousands):

Cross

Unrealized Estimated

Fair Value

Amortized

Cost Gains  Losses

Federal Home Loan
Mortgage Corporation
Gold, fixed rate interest
at 6.50%, due
September 1, 2031

Federal Home Loan
Mortgage Corporation

~ Gold, fixed rate interest
at 6.50%, due
September 1, 2031

Federal Home Loan
Mortgage Corporation
Gold, fixed rate interest
at 6.50%, due
September 1, 2031

Federal Home Loan
Mortgage Corporation
Gold, fixed rate interest
at 6.50%, due
September 1, 2031

Federal Home Loan
Mortgage Corporation
Gold, fixed rate interest
at 6.50%, due
September 1, 2031

Federal Home Loan
Mortgage Corporation
Gold, fixed rate interest
at 6.50%, due
September 1, 2031

$ 9309 $— $ 107 $ 9,202

59,574 733 58,841

8,086 93 7,993

19,014 220 18,794

56,570 659 55,911

2,072 24 2,048

$154,625 $— $1,836 $152,789
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The Company purchased these securities on September 28,
2001 at a premium to yield 6.07% with an anticipated aver-
age life of 5.15 years with financing provided by the seller
through a repurchase agreement.

At December 31, 2000, the Company held no available-for-
sale securities.

During the year ended December 31, 1999, the Company
sold its then entire portfolio of availablefor-sale securities
at a gain of $35,000 over their amortized cost. The cost of
securities sold was determined using the specific identifica-
tion method.

5. Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities

The Company pursues rated and unrated investments in
public and private subordinated interests {“Subordinated
Interests”) in CMBS.

Because of a decision to sell a held-to-maturity security in
1998, the Company transferred all of its investments in
commercial mortgage-backed securities from held-to-maturity

securities to available-for-sale and continues to classify the
CMBS as such.

During the yeor ended December 31, 1998, the Company
purchased $36,509,000 face amount of interests in three
subordinated CMBS issued by a financial asset securitization
investment trust for $36,335,000. In April 2000, the Company
received $1.4 million of additional discount from the issuer
of the securities in settlement of a dispute with the issuer. At
December 31, 2001, the securities had an amortized cost of
$35,923,000 and a market valve of $35,539,000. These
securifies bear interest at floating rates, for which the weighted
average interest rate in effect, after fair value adjustment at
December 31, 2001, is 8.52%, and mature in January 2003.
At December 31, 2001, the Company has deferred acquisi-
tion costs on these securities of $17,000 that are being
amortized as a reduction of interest income on a basis o
realize a level yield over the life of the investment.

On March 3, 1999, the Company, through its then newly
formed wholly owned subsidiary, CT-BB Funding Corp.,
acquired a portfolic of fixed-rate “BB" rated CMBS (the “BB
CMBS Portfolic”) from an affiliate of an existing credit facility
lender. The portfolio, which is comprised of 11 separate issues
with an aggregate face amount of $246.0 million, was pur-
chased for $196.9 million. In connection with the transaction,
an offiliate of the seller provided three-year term financing

for 70% of the purchase price ot a floating rate above the
London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”} and entered into an
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interest rate swap with the Company for the full duration of
the BB CMBS Portffolio securities thereby providing a hedge
for interest rate risk. The financing was provided at c rate
that was below the current market for similar financings and,
as such, the carrying amount of the assets and the debt were
reduced by $10.9 million to adjust the yield on the debt to
current market terms. The BB CMBS Portfolio securities bear
interest at fixed rates that have an average face rate of 7.74%
on the face amount and mature at various dates from March
2005 to January 2013. After giving effect to the discounted
purchase price, the fair value adjustment and the adjustment of
the carrying amount of the assets to bring the debt to current
market terms, the weighted average interest rate in effect for
the BB CMBS Portfolic at December 31, 2001 was 12.57%.

6. Certificated Mezzanine Investment

The Company purchased a high-yielding mezzanine invest-
ment that is subordinate to senior secured loans on a com-
mercial real estate asset. This investment represents interests
in debt service from loans or property cash flow and was
issued in certificate form. This certificated investment carried
substantially similar terms and risks os the Company’s
Mezzanine Loans.

The certificated mezzanine investment is a floating rate
security that is carried at market valve of $22,379,000 on
December 31, 2000. As the market value and amortized
cost were the same on December 31, 2000, no unrealized
gain or loss was recorded. The certificated mezzanine invest-
ment outstanding at December 31, 2000 was satisfied in
June 2001.

7. Loans Receivable

The Company currently pursues lending opportunities designed
to capitalize on inefficiencies in the real estate capital, mort-
gage ond finance markets. The Company has classified its
loans receivable into the following general categories:

© Mortgage Loans. The Company originates and funds senior
and junior mortgage loans (“Mortgage Loans”) to commer-
cial real estate owners and property developers who require
interim financing until permanent financing can be obtained.
The Company’s Mortgage Loans are generally not intended
to be permanent in noture, but rather are intended to be of
a relatively shortterm duration, with extension options as
deemed appropriate, and typically require a balloon pay-
ment of principal at maturity. The Company may also
originate and fund permanent Morigage Loans in which
the Company intends to sell the senior tranche, thereby
creating @ Mezzanine Loan (as defined below).
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© Mezzanine Loans. The Company originates high-yielding
loans that are subordinate to first lien mortgage loans on
commercial real estate and are secured either by a second
lien mortgage or a pledge of the ownership interests in the
borrowing property owner (“Mezzanine Loans”). Generally,
the Company’s Mezzanine Loans have a longer antici-
pated duration than its Mortgage Loans, are not intended
to serve as fransitional mortgage financing and can repre-
sent subordinated investments in real estate operating com-
panies which may take the form of secured or unsecured
debt, preferred stock and other hybrid instruments.

o QOther Loans Receivable. This classification includes loans
originated during the Company’s prior operations as a
REIT and other loans and investments not meeting the
above criteria.

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company’s loans
receivable consisted of the following (in thousands):

2007 2000
Mortgage Loans $ 69,998 $135,65]
Mezzanine Loans 142,160 179,356
Other loans receivable 49,625 47 029
261,783 362,036
Less: reserve for possible credit losses (13,695) (12,947)
Total loans $248,088 $349,089

One Mortgage Loan receivable with a principal balance of
$8,000,000 reached maturity on July 15, 2000 and has not
been repaid with respect to principal and interest. In accord-
ance with the Company’s policy for revenue recognition,
income recognition has been suspended on this loan and for
the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, $1,144,000
and $791,000, respectively, of potential interest income has
not been recorded.

During the year ended December 31, 2000, one other loan
receivable, originated by the former management of the
Company’s predecessor REIT operations, with a net invest-
ment of $136,000, was past due more than 90 days and
was written-off. The net investment prior to the write-off
included the loan balance of $915,000 offset by $779,000
of non-recourse financing of the asset. After the write-off, both
the loan receivable and the non-recourse financing are car-
ried at $779,000 until the non-recourse note payable was
foreclosed upon on January 17, 2001 {See Note 11). The
loan was originated during the Company's prior operations
as a REIT to facilitate the disposal of a previously foreclosed-
upon asset. In accordance with the Company's policy for rev-
enue recognition, income recognition was suspended on this
loan and for the year ended December 31, 2000, $76,000
of potential interest income has not been recorded.




At December 31, 2000, one Mezzanine Loan with a principal
balance of $13,018,000 was in default as the loan matured
on December 1, 2000. At December 31, 2000, the loan was
earning a variable interest rate of LIBOR plus 9.00%. The
loan was repaid in full with interest on March 21, 2001.

During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company
provided $13,319,000 of additional fundings on three loans
originated in prior periods and has no outstanding commit-
ments at December 31, 2001.

At December 31, 2001, the weighted average interest rate
in effect, including amortization of fees and premiums, for the
Company's performing loans receivable was as follows:

Mortgage Loans 9.28%
Mezzanine Loans 10.36%
Other loans receivable 9.81%

Total Loans 9.99%

At December 31, 2001, $164,011,000 (65%) of the afore-
mentioned performing loans bear interest at floating rates
ranging from LIBOR plus 525 basis points to LIBOR plus 875
basis points. The remaining $89,772,000 {35%) of loans
bear interest at fixed rates ranging from 11.62% to 12.00%.

The range of maturity dates and weighted average maturity
at December 31, 2001 of the Company’s performing loans
receivable was as follows:

Weighted

Average

Range of Maturity Dates Maturity

Mortgage Loans March 2002 to December 2002 4 Months

Mezzanine loans  August 2003 to July 2009 64 Months
Other loans

receivable January 2004 25 Months

Total Loans March 2002 to July 2009 42 Months

In addition, one of the loans for $49,625,000 has borrower
extension rights for an additional year.

At December 31, 2001, there are two loans to a related
group of borrowers totaling $74.5 million or approximately
11% of total assets. There are no other loans to a single bor-
rower or fo related groups of borrowers that exceed 10% of
total assets. Approximately 60% of all performing loans are
secured by properties in New York. Approximately 60% of
all performing loans are secured by office buildings and
approximately 31% are secured by corporate pledges. These

credit concentrations are adequately collateralized as of
December 31, 2001.
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In connection with the aforementioned loans, at December 31,
2001 and 2000, the Company has deferred origination fees,
net of direct costs of $1,220,000 and $2,157,000, respec-
tively, that are being amortized into income over the life of
the loan. At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company
has also recorded $372,000 and $2,017,000, respectively,
of exit fees, which will be collected at the loan pay-off. These
fees are recorded as interest income on a basis to realize o
level yield over the life of the loans.

As of December 31, 2001, performing loans totaling
$253,783,000 are pledged as collateral for borrowings
on the Company's credit facilities.

The Company has established a reserve for possible credit
losses on loans receivable as follows (in thousands):

2001 2000 1999
Beginning balance $12,947 § 7,605 $4,017
Provision for possible
credit losses 748 5,478 4,103
Amounts charged
against reserve for
possible credit losses - (136) (515)
Ending balance $13,695 $12,947 $7,605

8. Equity Investment in Funds

CT Mezzanine Partners LLC (“Fund I)

As part of the venture with Citigroup, as described in Note 2,
the Company has an equity investment in Fund | during the
years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000. The activity
for the equity investment in Fund | for the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000 is as follows {in thousands):

2001 2000
Beginning balance $ 26,011 $ —
Capital contributions to Fund | 25,331 33,214
Company portion of Fund | income 2,934 1,530
Costs capitalized for investment in
Fund 1 - 4,752
Amortization of capitalized costs (477) (378)
Distributions from Fund | (28,816) (13,107)
Ending balance $24,983 $26,0011

As of December 31, 2001, Fund | has loans outstanding total-

ing $165,227,000, all of which are performing in accordance
with the terms of the loan agreements except for one loan for
$26.0 million which is in default and for which the accrual of
inferest has been suspended.
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For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, the
Company received $765,000 and $373,000, respectively,
of fees for management of Fund I.

CT Mezzanine Partners II LP (“Fund II")

The Company made equity investments in Fund Il during the
year ended December 31, 2001. The Company accounts for
Fund Il on the equity method of accounting as the Company
has a 50% ownership interest in the general partner of Fund Il
The activity for the equity investment in Fund Il is as follows
{in thousands):

2001
Beginning balance $ -
Capital contributions to Fund Il 7,097
Company portion of Fund I income 54
Costs capitalized for investment in Fund I 3,776
Amortization of capitalized costs (229)
Distributions from Fund 1| (127)
Ending balance $10,571

As of December 31, 2001, Fund Il has loans and investments
outstanding totaling $485,385,000, all of which are per-
forming in accordance with the terms of the loan agreements.
In addition, the Company received $5,884,000 of fees for

management of Fund 1.

CT MP I LLC (“Fund II GP")

CT MP Il LLC {"Fund il GP") serves as the general partner for
Fund Ii. Fund I GP is owned 50% by the Company and 50%
by Citigroup.

The Company made equity investments in Fund Il GP during
the year ended December 31, 2001. The activity for the
equity investment in Fund It GP is as follows (in thousands):

2001
Beginning balance $ -
Capital contributions to Fund Il GP 2,671
Company portion of Fund Il GP income &
Distributions from Fund Il GP -—
Ending balance $2,675
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In addition, the Company earned $1,015,000 of consulting
fees from Fund Il GP for which, the receivable is included in
prepaid and other assefs.

In accordance with the amended and restated agreement of
limited partnership of CT Mezzanine Partners Il, LP, Fund I
GP may earn incentive compensation when certain returns
are achieved for the limited partners of Fund Il which will
be accrued if and when earned.

9. Excess of Purchase Price Over
Net Tangible Assets Acquired

On July 15, 1997, the Company consummated the acquisi-
tion of the real estate investment banking, advisory and asset
management businesses of Victor Capital and certain affili-
ated entities. The acquisition had been accounted for under
the purchase method of accounting. The excess of the pur-
chase price of the acquisition in excess of net tangible assets
acquired approximated $342,000.

The Company recognized the excess of purchase price over net
tangible assets acquired in a business combination accounted
for as @ purchase transaction and had been amortizing it on
a straightline basis over a period of 15 years. The carrying
value of the excess of purchase price over net tangible assets
acquired was analyzed quarterly by the Company based upon
the expected revenue and profitability levels of the acquired
enterprise to determine whether the value and future benefit
may indicate a decline in value.

in April 2000, the Company increased its level of resources
devoted to its new investment management business and
reduced resources devoted to its investment banking and
advisory operations. As a result, the Company determined
that there has been a decline in the value of the acquired
enterprise and the Company wrote-off the remaining value
of the excess of purchase price over net tangible assets
acquired. This additional $275,000 writeoff was recorded
os additional amortization expense in the year ended
December 31, 2000.




10. Equipment and Leasehold Improvements

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, equipment and leasehold
improvements, net, are summarized as follows {in thousands):

Period of
Depreciation or

Amortization 2001 2000

Office and computer
equipment 1 to 3 years $ 368 $492
Furniture and fixtures 5 years 148 143
Leasehold improvements Term of leases 385 297
1,099 932

Less: accumulated

depreciotion (57 6) (389)
$ 523 §543

Depreciation and amorlization expense on equipment and
leasehold improvements, which are computed on a straight
fine basis, totaled $203,000, $238,000 and $322,000 for
the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999,
respectively. Equipment and leasehold improvements are
included at their depreciated cost in prepaid and other
assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

11. Notes Payable

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company has notes
payable aggregating $977,000 and $2,647,000, respectively.

In connection with the acquisition of Victer Capital and offiliated
entities, the Company issued $5.0 million of non-interestbearing
unsecured notes {"Acquisition Notes”) to the sellers, both of
whom are directors of the Company and one who serves as
the current chief executive officer of the Company. The notes
are payable in ten semi-annual payments of $500,000. The
Acquisition Notes were originally discounted to $3,908,000
based on an imputed inferest rate of 9.5%.

At December 31, 2001, the Acquisition Notes have two
remaining semi-annual payments maturing July 1, 2002,
The net present value of the remaining payments on the
Acquisition Notes at December 31, 2001 and 2000,
amounted to $977,000 and $1,868,000, respectively.

The Company was also indebted under a non-recourse note
payable due to a life insurance company at December 31,
2000. This note was secured by a loan receivable for a prop-
erty that was sold in 1997. The note bore interest at 9.50%
per annum with principal and interest payable monthly until
August 7, 2017, when the entire unpaid principal balance
and any unpaid inferest was due. The life insurance company
has the right to call the entire note due and payable upon
ninety days prior written notice. At December 31, 2000, the
balance of the note payable amounted to $779,000. The

Company’s borrower defaulted on its payment cbligation
under the loan receivable securing the note payable in June
2000. As the note payable is non-recourse, the Company
terminated its payments to the life insurance company and
was in default on the note payable at December 31, 2000.
The Company determined not to pursue foreclosure on the
defaulted loan receivable and allowed the loan receivable
to be foreclosed upon on January 17, 2001, whereupon
the non-recourse debt was extinguished.

12. Long-Term Debt
Credit Factlities

Effective September 30, 1997, the Company entered into a
credit agreement with a commercial lender that provided for
a three-year $150 million line of credit. Effective January 1,
1998, pursuant to an amended ond restated credit agree-
ment, the Company increased the available credit under this
facility to $250 million and subsequently further amended the
credit agreement to increase the facility to $300 million effec-
tive June 22, 1998 and $355 million effective July 23, 1998.
The Company incurred an initial commitment fee upon the
signing of the credit agreement and the credit agreement
calls for additional commitment fees when the total borrowing
under the credit facility exceeds $75 million, $150 million,
$250 million and $300 million. Effective February 26, 1999,
pursuant to an amended and restated credit agreement, the
Company extended the expiration of such credit facility from
December 2001 to February 2002 with an automatic one-
year amortizing extension option, if not otherwise extended.

On June 8, 1998, the Company entered info a second credit
agreement with another commercial lender that provides for
a $300 million line of credit with an original expiration date
in December 1999 . The Company incurred an initial com-
mitment fee upcn the signing of this credit facility. Effective
March 30, 1999, pursuant to an amended and restated credit
agreement, the Company extended the expiration of such credit
tacility from December 1999 to June 2000 with an automatic
nine-month amortizing extension optfion, if not otherwise
extended. Effective June 30, 2000, pursuant to an omended
and restated credit agreement, the Company extended the
expiration of such credit facility from June 2000 to June 2001
with an automatic nine-month amortizing extension option, if
not otherwise extended. Effective July 16, 2001, pursuant to
an amended and restated credit agreement, the Company
reduced the amount of credit under this credit facility to $100
million and extended the expiration of such credit facility from
September 2001 to July 2002 with an automatic nine-month
amortizing extension option, if not otherwise extended.

The credit facilities provide for advances to fund lender-
approved loans and investments made by the Company
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{"Funded Portfolio Assets”}. The cbligations of the Company
under the credit facilities are secured by pledges of the Funded
Porffolio Assets acquired with advances under the credit facili-
ties. Borrowings under the credit facilities bear interest at speci-
fied rates over LIBOR, which rates may fluctuate, based upon
the credit quality of the Funded Portfolio Assets. Future repay-
ments and redrawdowns of amounts previously subject to the
drawdown fee will not require the Company to pay any
odditional fees. The credit facilities provide for margin calls
on asset-specific borrowings in the event of asset quality
and/or market value deterioration as determined under the
credit facilities. The credit facilities contain customary repre-
sentations and warranties, covenants and conditions and
events of default. The credit facilities also contain a covenant
obligating the Company to avoid undergoing an ownership
change that results in Craig M. Hatkoff, John R. Klopp or
Samuel Zell no longer retaining their senior offices and
directorships with the Company and practical control of the
Company'’s business and operations. The providers of the
credit facilities have notified the Company that the resigna-
tion of Craig M. Hatkoff on December 29, 2000 is not an
event of non-compliance with the foregoing covenant.

At December 31, 2001, the Company. has borrowed
$29,076,000 against the $355 million credit facility at
an average borrowing rate {including amortization of
fees incurred and capitalized) of 6.13%. The Company
has pledged assets of $87,879,000 as collateral for the
borrowing against such credit facility.

At December 31, 2001, the Company has borrowed
$92,135,000 against the $100 million credit facility at
an average borrowing rate {including amortization of
fees incurred and capitalized) of 4.88%. The Company
has pledged assets of $201,442,000 as colloteral for
the borrowing against such credit facility.

On December 31, 2001, the unused amount of potential
credit under the credit facilities was $319,765,000.

Repurchase Obligations

During 2001, the Company had entered into three repurchase
agreements. Two repurchase agreements were satisfied dur-
ing the year ended December 31, 2001 and the other was
outstanding at December 31, 2001,

The first repurchase agreement, with a securities dealer, arose
in connection with the purchase of a Certificated Mezzanine
Investment. At December 31, 2000, the Company has sold
such asset with o book value of $22,379,000, which approx-
imates market value, and has a liability to repurchase this
asset for $16,569,000. This repurchase agreement was
extended to May 2001 during the year ended December 31,
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2000 and satisfied in June 2001 with the proceeds of the
loan repayment. The liability balance bore interest ot a speci-
fied rate over LIBOR.

The second repurchase agreement, with a securities dedler,
arose in connection with the purchase of available-for-sale
securities in June 2001. The repurchase agreement was set-
tled in July 2001 when the securities were sold.

The third repurchase agreement, with Morgan Stanley, arose
in connection with the purchase of availableforsale securities in
September 2001. At December 31, 2001, the Company has
sold such asset with a book and market value of $152,789,000
and has o liobility to repurchase this asset for $147,880,000.
This repurchase agreement has a maturity date in March 2002.
The liability balance bears interest at LIBOR.

The interest rate in effect for the repurchase obligation out-
standing at December 31, 2001 was 2.03% and the interest
rate in effect for the repurchase obligation outstanding at
December 31, 2000 was 8.32%.

Term Redeemable Securities Contract

In connection with the purchase of the BB CMBS Portfolio
described in Note 5, an affiliate of the seller provided financ-
ing for 70% of the purchase price, or $137.8 million, at a
floating rafe of LIBOR plus 50 basis points pursuant to a term
redeemable securities contract. This rate was below the mar-
ket rate for similar financings, and, as such, a discount on
the term redeemable securities contract was recorded to
reduce the carrying amount by $10.9 million (which has
been amertized to $679,000), which had the effect of
adjusting the yield to current market ferms. The debt has

a three-year term that expires in February 2002,

By entering into interest rate swaps, the Company has effec-
tively converted the term redeemable securities contract to a
fixed interest rate of 6.55%. After adjusting the carrying amount
ond yield fo current market terms, the term redeemable secu-
rities contract bears interest at o fixed interest rate of 9.54%.

13. Derivative Financial Instruments

On January 1, 2001, the Company adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 133, “Accounting
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended
by SFAS No. 138, "Accounting for Certain Derivative Instru-
ments and Certain Hedging Activities.” SFAS No. 133, as
omended, establishes accounting and reporting standards for
derivative instruments. Specifically SFAS No. 133 requires an
entity to recognize all derivatives as either assets or liobilities
in the consolidated balance sheets and to measure those
instruments ot fair value. Additionally, the fair value adjust-
ments will affect either shareholders’ equity or net income




depending on whether the derivative instrument qualifies as
a hedge for accounting purposes and, if so, the nature of
the hedging activity. As of January 1, 2001, the adoption of
the new standard resulted in an adjustment of $574,000 to
accumulated other comprehensive loss and other liabilities.

In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to
the effect of interest rate changes. The Company limits these
risks by following established risk management policies and
procedures including those for the use of derivatives. For infer-
est rate exposures, derivatives are used primarily to align rate
movements befween interest rates associated with the Company’s
loans and other financial assets with interest rates on related
debt financing, and manage the cost of borrowing obligations.

The Company does not use derivatives for trading or specula-
tive purposes. Further, the Company has a policy of only

The following table summarizes the notional value and fair value of the Company’s derivative financial instruments, principally
swap contracts at December 31, 2001. The notional value provides an indication of the extent of the Company's involvement in
these instruments at that time, but does not represent exposure to credit, interest rate or foreign exchange market risks.

entering into contracts with major financial institutions based
upon their credit ratings and other factors. When viewed in
conjunction with the underlying and offsetting exposure that
the derivatives are designed to hedge, the Company has not
sustained a material loss from those instruments, nor does it
anticipate any material adverse effect on its net income or
financial position in the future from the use of derivatives.

To manage interest rate risk, the Company may employ
options, forwards, interest rate swaps, caps and floors or a
combination thereof depending on the underlying exposure.
To reduce overall interest cost, the Company uses interest rate
instruments, typically interest rate swaps, to convert a portion
of its variable rate debf to fixed rate debt. Interest rate differ-
entials that arise under these swap contracts are recognized
as interest expense over the life of the contracts.

Interest
Hedge Type Notional Value Rate Maturity Fair Value
Swap Fair Value Hedge $137,812,000 6.045% 2014 $(¢,450,000)
Swap Cash Flow Hedge 11,250,000 6.580% 2006 (882,000)
Swap Cash Flow Hedge 37,125,000 5.905% 2008 (1,679,000)
Swap Cash Flow Hedge 18,547,000 6.035% 2003 (976,000)
Cap Cash Flow Hedge 18,750,000 11.250% 2007 82,000

Financial reporting for hedges characterized as fair value
hedges and cash flow hedges are different. For those hedges
characterized as a fair value hedge, the changes in fair value
of the hedge and the hedged item are reflected in earnings
each quarter. In the case of the fair value hedge listed above,
the Company is hedging the component of interest rate risk
that can be directly controlled by the hedging instrument, and
it is this portion of the hedged assets that is recognized in
earnings. The non-hedged balance is clossified as an avail-
able-for-sale security consistent with SFAS No. 115, and is
reported in accumulated other comprehensive income. For
those hedges characterized as cash flow hedges, the unreal-
ized gains/losses in the fair value of these hedges are reported
on the balance sheet with a corresponding adjustment to
either accumulated other comprehensive income or in earnings,
depending on the type of hedging relationship.

On December 31, 2001, the derivative financial instruments
were reported at their fair value as other assets and interest rate
hedge liabilities of $82,000 and $9,987,000, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company
recognized a gain of $47,000 for the change in time value
for qualifying interest rate hedges. The time value is a compo-
nent of fair value that must be recognized in earnings, and is
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shown in the consolidated statement of operations as unreal-
ized loss on derivative securities.

The foir value hedge in the above table was undertoken by
the Company to sustain the value of its CMBS holdings. This
fair value hedge, when viewed in conjunction with the fair
value of the securities, is sustaining the value of those securi-
ties as interest rates rise and fall. During the twelve months
ended December 31, 2001, the Company recognized a loss
of $5,479,000 for the decrease in the value of the swap
which was substantially offset by a gain of $4,890,000 for
the change in the fair value of the securities attributed to the
hedged risk resulting in a $589,000 charge to unrealized
loss on derivative securities on the consolidated statement

of operations.

The Company utilizes cash flow hedges in order to better con-
trol interest costs on variable rate debt transactions. Interest
rate swaps that convert variable payments fo fixed payments,
interest rate caps, floors, collars, and forwards are consid-
ered cash flow hedges. During the year ended December 31,
2001, the fair value of the cash flow swaps decreased by
$2.9 million, which was deferred into other comprehensive
foss and will be released to earnings over the remaining lives
of the swaps.
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Over time, the unrealized gains and losses held in accumulated
other comprehensive income will be reclassified to earnings.
This reclassification is consistent with the timing of when the
hedged items are also recognized in earnings. Within the next
twelve months, the Company estimates that $2.5 million cur-
rently held in accumulated other comprehensive income will be
reclassified to earnings, with regard to the cash flow hedges.

14. Convertible Trust Preferred Securities

On July 28, 1998, the Company privately placed originally
issued 150,000 8.25% step up convertible trust preferred
securities (liquidation amount $1,000 per security) with an
aggregate liquidation amount of $150 million.

The convertible trust preferred securities were originally issued
by the Company’s consolidated statutory trust subsidiary, CT
Convertible Trust | the “Trust”) and represented an undivided
beneficial interest in the assets of the Trust that consisted
solely of the Company's 8.25% step up convertible junior
subordinated debentures in the aggregate principal amount
of $154,650,000 that were concurrently sold and originally
issued to the Trust. Distributions on the convertible trust pre-
ferred securities were payable quarterly in arreors on each
calendar quarterend and correspond to the payments of
interest made on the convertible debentures, the sole assets
of the Trust. Distributions were payable only to the extent pay-
ments were made in respect to the convertible debentures.

The Company received $145,207,000 in net proceeds, affer
original issue discount of 3% from the liquidation amount

of the convertible trust preferred securities and transaction
expenses, pursuant fo the above transactions, which were
used to pay down the Company’s credit facilities. The con-
vertible trust preferred securities were convertible into shares
of Class A Common Stock at an initial rate of 85.47 shares
of Class A Common Stock per $1,000 principal amount of
the convertible debentures held by the Trust {which is equiva-
lent to a conversion price of $11.70 per share of Class A
Common Stock).

On May 10, 2000, the Company modified the terms of the
$150 million aggregate liquidation amount convertible trust
preferred securities.

In connection with the modification, the then outstanding
convertible trust preferred securities were canceled and new
variable step up convertible trust preferred securities with an
aggregate liquidation amount of $150,000,000 were issued
to the holders of the canceled securities in exchange therefore,
and the original underlying convertible debentures were can-
celed and new 8.25% step up convertible junior subordinated
debentures in the aggregate principal amount of $92,524,000
and new 13% step up non-convertible junior subordinated
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debentures in the aggregate principal amount of $62,126,000
were issued to the Trust, as the holder of the canceled bonds,
in exchange therefore. The liquidation amount of the new con-
vertible trust preferred securities is divided into $89,742,000
of convertible amount (the “Convertible Amount”) and
$60,258,000 of non<convertible amount {the “Non-Convertible
Amount"}, the distribution, redemption and, as applicable,
conversion terms of which, mirror the interest, redemption
and, as applicable, conversion terms of the new convertible
debentures and the new non-convertible debentures, respec-
tively, held by the Trust.

Distributions on the new convertible trust preferred securities
are payable quarterly in arrears on each calendar quarter-
end and correspond to the payments of interest made on the
new debentures, the sole assets of the Trust. Distributions are
payable only to the extent payments are made in respect to
the new debentures.

The new convertible trust preferred securities initially bear

a blended coupon rate of 10.16% per annum which rate
will vary as the proportion of outstanding Convertible Amount
to the outstanding Non-Convertible Amount changes and
will step up in accordance with the coupon rate step up
terms applicable to the Convertible Amount and the Non-
Convertible Amount.

The Convertible Amount bears a coupon rate of 8.25% per
annum through March 31, 2002 and increases on April 1,
2002 to the greater of (i} 10.00% per annum, increasing by
0.75% on October 1, 2004 and on each October 1 there-
after or (i) a percentage per annum equal to the quarterly
dividend paid on @ common share multiplied by four and
divided by $7.00. The Convertible Amount is convertible into
shares of Class A Common Stock, in increments of $1,000 in
liquidation amount, at a conversion price of $7.00 per share.
The Convertible Amount is redeemable by the Company, in
whole or in part, on or affer September 30, 2004.

The Non-Convertible Amount bears a coupon rate of 13.00%
per annum through September 30, 2004, increasing by 0.75%
on October 1, 2004 and on each October 1 thereafter. The
Non-Convertible Amount is redeemable by the Company, in
whole or in part, at any time.

For financial reporting purposes, the Trust is treated as a sub-
sidiary of the Company and, accordingly, the accounts of the
Trust are included in the consolidated financial statements of
the Company. Intercompany transactions between the Trust
and the Company, including the original convertible and new
debentures, have been eliminated in the consolidated finan-
cial statements of the Company. The criginal convertible trust
preferred securities and the new convertible trust preferred




securities {"Convertible Trust Preferred Securities”) are pre-

sented as a separate caption between liabilities and stockhold-

ers’ equity in the consolidated balance sheet of the Company.
Distributions on the original convertible trust preferred securities
and the new convertible frust preferred securities are recorded,
net of the tax benefit, in a separate caption immediately
following the provision for income taxes in the consolidated
statements of operations of the Company.

15. Stockholders’ Equity
Authorized Capital

Upon consummation of the reorganization {See Note 1), each
outstanding Class A Common Share of the predecessor was
converted into one share of Class A Common Stock of the
Company, and each outstanding Class A Preferred Share

of the predecessor was converted into one share of Class A
Preferred Stock of the Company. As a result, all of the prede-
cessor’s previously issued Class A Common Shares have
been reclassified as shares of Class A Common Stock and all
of the predecessor’s previously issued Class A Preferred Shares
have been reclassified as shares of Class A Preferred Stock.

The Company has the authority to issue up to 300,000,000
shares of stock, consisting of (i) 100,000,000 shares of
Class A Common Stock, (i} 100,000,000 shares of class B
common stock, par value $0.01 per share {“Class B Common
Stock”), and {iii] 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock. The
board of directors is generally authorized to issue additional
shares of authorized stock without stockholders’ approval.

Common Stock

Except as described herein or as required by law, all shares
of Class A Common Stock and shares of Class B Common
Stock are identical and entitled to the same dividend, distri-
bution, liquidation and other rights. The Class A Common
Stock are voting shares entitfled to vote on all matters pre-
sented fo a vote of stockholders, except as provided by law
or subject to the voting rights of any outstanding Preferred
Stock. The shares of Class B Common Stock do not have vot-
ing rights and are not counted in determining the presence
of a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of
the stockholders of the Company. Holders of record of shares
of Class A Common Stock and shares of Class B Common
Stock on the record date fixed by the Company's board of
directors are enfitled to receive such dividends as may be
declared by the board of directors subject to the rights of
the helders of any ouistanding preferred stock.
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Each share of Class A Common Stock is convertible at the
option of the holder thereof into one share of Class B Common
Stock and, subject to certain conditions; each share of Class B
Commen Stock is convertible at the option of the holder thereof
into one share of Class A Common Stock.

Preferred Stock

In connection with the reorganization, the Company created
two classes of Preferred Stock, Class A Preferred Stock and
the class B 9.5% cumulative convertible non-voting preferred
stock (“Class B Preferred Stock”). As described above, upon
consummation of the reorganization, the predecessor’s out-
standing Class A Preferred Shares were converted into shares
of the Company’s Class A Preferred Stock. Foliowing the
reorganization, certain shares of Class A Preferred Stock
were converted into shares of Class B Preferred Stock and
certain shares of Class A Common Stock were converted
into shares of Class B Common Stock.

Except as described herein or as required by law, both
classes of Preferred Stock were identical and entitled to the
same dividend, distribution, liquidation and other rights. The
holders of the Class A Preferred Stock were entitled to vote
together with the holders of the Class A Common Stock as a
single class on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders.
Each share of Class A Preferred Stock entitled the holder
thereof to @ number of votes per share equal to the number
of shares of Class A Common Stock into which such shares
of Class A Preferred Stock was then convertible. Except as
described herein, the holders of Class B Preferred Stock did
not have voting rights and were not counted in determining
the presence of a quorum for the transaction of business at a
stockholders’ meeting. The cffirmative vote of the holders of a
maijority of the outstanding Preferred Stock, voting together as
a separate single class, except in certain circumstances, had
the right to approve any merger, consolidation or transfer of
all or substantially all of the assets of the Company. Holders
of the Preferred Stock were entitled to receive, when and as
declared by the board of directors, cash dividends per share
at the rate of 9.5% per annum on a per share price of
$2.69. Such dividends accrued (whether or not declared)
and, to the extent not paid for any dividend period, were
cumulative. Dividends on the authorized Preferred Stock were
payable, when and as declared, semi-annually, in arrears, on
December 26 and June 25 of each year.
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Each share of Class A Preferred Stock was convertible at the
option of the holder thereof into an equal number of shares of
Class B Preferred Stock, or into a number of shares of Class A
Common Stock equal to the ratio of (x) $2.69 plus an amount
equal to all dividends per share accrued and unpaid thereon
as of the date of such conversion to {y} the conversion price
in effect as of the date of such conversion. Each share of
Class B Preferred Stock was convertible at the option of the
holder thereof, subject to certain conditions, into an equal
number of shares of Class A Preferred Stock or into a number
of shares of Class B Common Stock equal to the ratio of (x)
$2.69 plus an emount equal to all dividends per share accrued
and unpaid thereon as of the date of such conversion to [y) the
conversion price in effect as of the date of such conversion.

In December 2001, following the repurchase of all of the out-
standing shares of Preferred Stock (as discussed below), the
Company amended its charter to eliminate from authorized
capital the previously designated Class A Preferred Stock and
Class B Preferred Stock and increase the authorized shares of
preferred stock to 100,000,000.

As of December 31, 1998, there were 12,267,658 shares
of Class A Preferred Stock issued and outstanding, no shares
of Class B Preferred Stock were issued and outstanding,
18,158,816 shares of Class A Common Stock were issued
and outstanding and no shares of Class B Common Stock
were issued and outstanding. The 12,267,658 shares of
Class A Preferred Stock outstanding at December 31, 1998
were originally issued and purchased by Veqtor on July 15,
1997 for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $33
million {see Note 1).

Until August 10, 1999 (the “Conversion Date”), Vegtor owned
6,959,593 of the outstanding shares of Class A Common
Stock and all 12,267,658 of the outstanding shares of Class A
Preferred Stock. Vegtor was then controlled by the chairman of
the board, the vice chairman and chief executive officer and
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the then vice chairman and chairman of the executive commit-
tee of the board of directors of the Company in their capaci-
ties as the persons controlling the common members of Vegtor.
Prior to the Conversion Date, the common members owned
approximately 48% of the equity ownership of Vegtor and
three commercial banks, as preferred members of Vegtor,
owned the remaining 52% of the equity ownership of Vegtor.

Common and Preferred Stock Outstanding

During March 2000, the Company commenced an open
market share repurchase program under which the Com-
pany was authorized to purchase, from time fo time, up
to four million shares of Class A Common Stock. As of
December 31, 2001, the Company had purchased and
retired, pursuant to the program, 2,564,400 shares of
Class A Common Stock at an average price of $4.14 per
share (including commissions).

The Company has no further obligations fo issue additional
warrants to Citigroup at December 31, 2001. The value of the
warrants at the issuance dotes, $4,636,000, was capitalized
and will be amortized over the anticipated lives of the Funds.

In two privately negotiated transactions closed in April 2001,
the Company repurchased for $29,138,000, 630,701
shares of Class A Common Stock, 1,520,831 shares of
Class B Common Stock, 1,518,390 shares of Class A
Preferred Stock and 2,274,110 shares of Class B Pre-
ferred Stock. In addition, in a privately negotiated transac-
tion closed in August 2001, the Company repurchased for
$21.0 million, 200,000 shares of Class A Common Stock,
1,234,355 shares of Class B Common Stock, 759,195
shares of Class A Preferred Stock and 1,769,138 shares
of Class B Preferred Stock. The Company has repurchased
all of its outstanding Preferred Stock and eliminated the

related dividend.




Earnings Per Share

Year Ended December 31, 2001

The following table sets forth the calculation of Basic and Diluted EPS for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999:

Year Ended December 31, 2000 Year Ended December 31, 1999

Net Income

Per Share
Amoaunt

Per Share
Amount

Per Share

Shares Net Income Shares Net Income Shares Amount

Basic EPS:
Net earnings per share of
Common Stock

$ 8,764,000

Effect of Dilutive Securities:
Options outstanding for the
purchase of Common Stock -
Warrants outstanding for the
purchase of Common Stock -
Future commitments for stock
unit awards for the issuance
of Common Stock
Convertible Trust Preferred
Securities exchangeable for
shares of Common Stock
Convertible Preferred Stock

4,120,000
606,000

20,166,319  $0.43 $8,146,000 23,171,057 $0.35  $14,701,000 21,334,412 $0.69

96,432 — 37 — -

420,947 — — — —_

50,000 — 200,000 — 300,000

12,820,513 — —
2,569,894 1,615,000 6,320,833

6,966,000
2,375,000

12,820,513
9,269,806

Diluted EPS:
Net earnings per share of
Common Stock and

Assumed Conversions $13,490,000

36,124,105  $0.37 $9,761,000 29,691,927 $0.33  $24,042,000 43,724,731 $0.55

16. General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrotive expenses for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 consist of {in thousands):

17. Income Taxes

The Company and its subsidiaries file o consolidoted federal
income fax return. The provision for income taxes for the years
ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 is comprised

2001 2000 1999 ;
as follows (in thousands):
Salaries and benefits $11,082 $11,280 $12914
Professional services 1,545 1,170 2,352 2001 2000 1999
Other 2,755 2989 2079  Cument
Total $15,382 $15439 $17,345 Federal $10,642 $12,561 $14,538
State 3,811 4,493 5,176
Local 3,473 4,057 4,673
Deferred
Federal (732)  (2,025)  (1,430)
State (72) (697) (492)
Local (240) 629) (445)
Provision for income taxes $16,882 $17,760 $22,020

35




Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(continued)

The Company has federal net operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”} as of December 31, 2001 of approximately $15.4 million.
Such NOLs expire through 2021. Due to an ownership change in January 1997 and another prior ownership change, a
substantial portion of the NOLs are limited for federal income tax purposes to approximately $1.4 million annually. Any unused
porfion of such annual limitation can be carried forward to future periods.

The reconciliation of income tax computed at the U.S. federal statutory tax rate {35%) to the effective income tax rate for the
years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 are as follows (in thousands):

2007 2000 1999
$ % $ % $ %
Federal income tax at statutory rate_ $12,156 35.0% $12,405 35.0% $16,122 35.0%
State and local taxes, net of federal tox benefit 4,532 13.1% 4,696 13.3% 5,793 12.6%
Utilization of net operating loss carryforwards (490) (1.4)% (490} (1.4)% (495) (1.1)%
Compensation in excess of deductible limits 642 1.8% 851 2.4% 566 1.2%
Other 42 0.1% 298 0.8% 34 0.1%
$16,882  48.6% $17760  50.1%  $22020  47.8%

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabil-
ities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used
for tax reporting purposes.

The components of the net deferred tax assets are as follows
[in thousands|:

December 31,

2001 2000
Net operating loss carryforward $ 5,304 §$ 3,298

Reserves on other assets and

for possible credit losses 4,340 9,047
Other 2,834 1,411
Deferred tax assets 14,168 13,756
Valuation allowance (4,408) (5,037)

$ 9,763 $ 8,719

The Company recorded a valuation allowance to reserve a
portion of its net deferred assets in accordance with SFAS
No. 109. Under SFAS No. 109, this valuation allowance
will be adjusted in future years, as appropriate. However,
the timing and extent of such future adjustments cannot
presently be determined.

18. Employee Benefit Plans
Employee 401(k) and Profit Sharing Plan

In 1999, the Company instituted a 401(k) and profit sharing
plan that allows eligible employees to contribute up to 15% of
their salary into the plan on a predax basis, subject to annual
limits. The Company has committed to make contributions to
the plan equal to 3% of all eligible employees’ compensation
subject fo annual limits and may make additional contributions

based upon earnings. The Company’s contribution expense for
the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, was
$196,000, $187,000 and $191,000, respectively.

36

1997 Long-Term Incentive Stock Plan

The Company’s 1997 Amended and Restated Long-Term
Incentive Stock Plan (the “Incentive Stock Plan”) permits the
grant of nonqualified stock option (“NQSQ"), incentive stock
option (“ISO"), restricted stock, stock appreciation right (“SAR),
performance unit, performance stock and stock unit awards.
A maximum of 1,353,753 shares of Class A Common Stock
may be issued during the fiscal year 2002 pursuant to awards
under the Incentive Stock Plan and the Director Stock Plan (as
defined below) in addition to the shares subject to awards
outstanding under the two plans at December 31, 2001. The
maximum number of shares that may be subject to awards to
any employee during the term of the plan may not exceed
500,000 shares and the maximum amount payable in cash
to any employee with respect to any performance period pur-
suant fo any performance unit or performance stock award is
$1.0 million.

The 1SOs shall be exercisable no more than ten years after their
date of grant and five years after the grant in the case of a
10% stockholder and vest over a period of three years with
one-hird vesting at each anniversary date. Payment of an
option may be made with cash, with previously owned Class
A Common Stock, by foregoing compensation in accordance
with performance compensation committee or compensation
committee rules or by a combination of these.

Restricted stock may be granted under the Incentive Stock Plan
with performance goals and periods of restriction as the board
of directors may designate. The performance goals may be
based on the attainment of certain objective and/or subjec-
five measures. In 2001, 2000 and 1999, the Company issued
227,780 shares, 230,304 shares and 104,167 shares,
respectively, of restricted stock. 62,374 shares were canceled
in 2000 and 32,500 shares were canceled in 1999 upon
the resignation of employees prior to vesting. The shares of
restricted stock issued in 2001 vest one-third on each of the




following dates: February 1, 2002, February 1, 2003 and
February 1, 2004. The shares of restricted stock issued in
2000 vest one-third on each of the following dates: February 1,
2001, February 1, 2002 and February 1, 2003. The shares
of restricted stock issued in 1999 vest one-third on each of
the following dates: February 2, 2000, February 2, 2001
and February 2, 2002. The Company also granted 52,083
shares of performance based restricted stock in 1999 for
which none of the performance goals have been met and
the shares have not been issued.

The Incentive Stock Plan also authorizes the grant of stock
units at any fime and from time to fime on such terms as shall
be determined by the board of directors or administering
compensation committee. Stock units shall be payable in
Class A Common Stock upon the occurrence of certain trig-
ger events. The terms and condifions of the trigger events
may vary by stock unit award, by the participant, or both.

The following table summarizes the activity under the

Incentive Stock Plan for the years ended December 371,
2001, 2000 and 1999:

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
Options Exercise Price Per
Quistanding Per Share Share
Outstanding at
January 1, 1999 1,269,084 $6.00 -$11.38  $8.46
Granted in 1999 352,000 $6.00 6.00
Canceled in 1999 (387,167) $6.00 -$11.38 8.06
Outstanding at
December 31, 1999 1,233,917 $6.00 -$10.00  7.89
Granted in 2000 467,250 $4.125-$ 6.00  4.94
Canceled in 2000 (281,667} $4.125-$10.00 7.34
Outstanding at
December 31, 2000 1,419,500 $4.125-$10.00 7.04
Granted in 2001 454,500 $4.50 -$ 550  4.62
Canceled in 2001 (142,333) $4.125-$10.00  6.83
Outstonding at
December 31, 2001 1,731,667 $4.125-3$10.00 $6.42

At December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, 1,011,824,
745,505 and 487,761, respectively, of the options were
exercisable. At December 31, 2001, the outstanding options
have various remaining contractual lives ranging from 0.50
to 9.43 years with a weighted average life of 7.13 years.
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1997 Non-Employee Director Stock Plan

The Company’s 1997 Amended and Restated Long-Term
Director Stock Plan (the “Director Stock Plan”} permits the
grant of NQSO, restricted stock, SAR, performance unit,
stock and stock unit awards. A maximum of 1,353,753
shares of Class A Common Stock may be issued during
the fiscal year 2001 pursuant to awards under the Director
Stock Plan and the Incentive Stock Plan, in addition to the
shares subject to awards outstanding under the two plans
at December 31, 2001.

The board of directors shall determine the purchase price
per share of Class A Common Stock covered by a NQSC
granted under the Director Stock Plan. Payment of a NQSO
may be made with cash, with previously owned shares of
Class A Common Stock, by foregoing compensation in accor-
dance with board rules or by a combination of these payment
methods. SARs may be granted under the plan in lieu of
NQSOs, in addition to NQSOs, independent of NQSOs or
as a combination of the foregoing. A holder of a SAR is enti-
tled upon exercise fo receive shares of Class A Common
Stock, or cash or a combination of both, as the board of
directors may determine, equal in value on the date of exer-
cise to the amount by which the fair market value of one
share of Class A Common Stock on the date of exercise
exceeds the exercise price fixed by the board on the date
of grant {which price shall not be less than 100% of the
market price of a share of Class A Common Stock on the
date of grant] multiplied by the number of shares in respect
to which the SARs are exercised.

Restricted stock may be granted under the Director Stock
Plan with performance goals and pericds of restriction as the
board of directors may designate. The performance goals may
be based on the attainment of certain cbjective and/or sub-
jective measures. The Director Stock Plan also authorizes the
grant of stock units at any time and from time to time on such
terms as shall be determined by the board of directors. Stock
units sholl be payable in shares of Class A Common Stock
upon the occurrence of certain trigger events. The terms and
conditions of the trigger events may vary by stock unit award,
by the participant, or both.
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The following table summarizes the activity under the Director
Stock Plon for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000

and 1999:

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
Options Exercise Price Per
Outstanding Per Share Share
Outstanding at
Jonuary 1, 1999 255,000  $6.00-$10.00  $9.22
Granted in 1999 - $— —
Ouistanding ot
December 31, 1999 255,000 $6.00-$10.00 9.22
Granted in 2000 — $—
Outstanding at
December 31, 2000 255,000 $6.00-$10.00 9.22
Granted in 2001 - $— —
Qutstending at
December 31, 2001 255,000 $6.00-$10.00 $9.22

At December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, 255,000,
186,668 and 101,688, respectively, of the options were
exercisable. At December 31, 2001, the outstanding options
have a remaining contractual life of 5.54 years to 6.08
years with a weighted average life of 5.98 years.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”
was issued by the FASB in October 1996. SFAS No. 123
encourages the adoption of a new fair-value based account-
ing method for employee stock-based compensation plans.
SFAS No. 123 also permits companies to continue accounting
for stock-based compensation plans as prescribed by APB
Opinion No. 25. However, companies electing to continue

(continued)

accounting for stock-based compensation plans under APB
Opinion No. 25, must make pro forma disclosures as if the
Company adopted the cost recognition requirements under
SFAS No. 123. The Company has continued to account

for stock-based compensation under APB Opinion No. 25.
Accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized for
the Incentive Stock Plan or the Director Stock Plan in the accom-
panying consolidated statements of operations as the exercise
price of the stock options granted thereunder equaled the mar-
ket price of the underlying stock on the date of the grant.

Pro forma information regarding net income and net earnings
per common share has been estimated at the date of the
grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model based on
the following assumptions:

2001 2000 1999
Risk-free interest rate 4.75% 6.65% 52%
Volatility 25.0% 40.0% 40.0%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Expected life (years) 5.0 5.0 5.0

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for
use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no
vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option
valuation models require the input of highly subjective assump-
tions including the expected stock price volatility. Because the
Company’s employee stock options have characteristics sig-
nificantly different from those of traded options, and because
changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially
affect the fair value estimate, in the Company’s opinion, the
existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single
measure of the fair value of its employee stock options. The
weighted average fair value of each stock option granted
during the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999 were $1.47, $1.58 and $2.41, respectively.

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options is amortized to expense over the options’ vesting
pericd. The Company’s pro forma information for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 is as follows
{in thousands, except for net earnings (loss) per share of common stock):

2001 2000 1999
As As As
Reported Pro forma Reported Pro forma Reported Pro forma
Net income $9,370 $9,063 $9,761 $9,287 $17,076 $16,274
Net earnings per share of common stock:
Basic $ 0.43 $ 0.42 $ 0.35 $ 033 $ 0.9 $ 062
Diluted $ 0.37 $ 0.36 $ 0.33 $ 0.31 $ 055 ¢ 053

The pro forma information presented above is not representative of the effect stock options will have on pro forma net income

or earnings per share for future years.
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19. Fair Values of Financial Instruments

SFAS No. 107, “Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial
Instruments,” requires disclosure of fair value information
about financial instruments, whether or not recognized in the
statement of financial condition, for which it is practicable to
estimate that value. In cases where quoted market prices are
not available, fair values are based upon estimates using
present value or other valuation techniques. Those technigues
are significantly affected by the assumpfions used, including
the discount rate and the estimated future cash flows. In that
regard, the derived fair value estimates cannot be substanti-
ated by comparison fo independent markets and, in many
cases, could not be realized in immediate settlement of the
instrument. SFAS No. 107 excludes certain financial instru-
ments and all nonfinancial instruments from its disclosure
requirements. Accordingly, the aggregate fair value amounts
do not represent the underlying value of the Company.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate
the fair value of each class of financial instruments for which
it is practicable to estimate that value:

Cash and cash equivalents: The carrying amount of cash on
hand and money market funds is considered to be a reason-
able estimate of fair value.

Available-for-sale securities: The fair value was determined
based upon the market value of the securities.

Commercial mortgage-backed securities: The fair value
was obtained by obtaining quotes from a market maker in
the security.

The carrying amounts of all assets and liabilities approximate the

Certificated mezzanine investments: The fair value was
obtained by obtaining a quote from a market maker in
the security.

Loans receivable, net: The fair values were estimated by
using current institutional purchaser yield requirements for
loans with similar credit characteristics.

Interest rate cap agreement: The fair value was estimated
based upon the amount at which similar financial instruments
would be valued.

Credit facilities: The credit facilities are at floating rates of
interest for which the spread over LIBOR is at rates that are
similar to those in the market currently. Therefore, the carry-
ing value is a reasonable estimate of fair value.

Repurchase obligations: The repurchase obligations,
which are generally shortterm in nature, bear interest at

a floating rate and the book value is a reasonable estimate
of fair value.

Term redeemable securities contract: The fair value was esti-
mated based upon the amount at which similar privately placed
financial instruments would be valued.

Convertible Trust Preferred Securities: The fair value was esti-
mated based upon the amount at which similar privately placed
financial instruments would be valued.

Interest rate swap agreements: The fair values were estimated
based upon the amount at which similar financial instruments
would be valued.

fair value except as follows {in thousands):
December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
Financial Assets:
Loans receivable, net $248,088 $247,127 $349,089 $342,446
Available-for-sale securities 152,789 152,789 — —
CMBS 210,268 210,268 215,516 216,487
Interest rate hedge liabilities (9,987) (9,987) — (971)
Interest rate cap agreement 82 82 36 57
Unrecognized Financial Instruments:
Interest Rate Swap Agreements N/A N/A — (574)
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20. Supplemental Schedule of Non-Cash
and Financing Activities

Interest paid on the Company’s outstanding debt for 2001,
2000 and 1999 was $38,290,000, $48,531,000 and
$49,103,000, respectively. Income taxes paid by the
Company in 2001, 2000 and 1999 were $11,583,000,
$15,612,000 and $17,165,000, respectively.

21. Transactions with Related Parties

The Company entered into a consulting agreement, dated as
of January 1, 1998, with a director of the Company. The
consulting agreement had an initial term of one year, which
was subsequently extended to December 31, 2001. Pursuant
to the agreement, the director provides consulting services for
the Company including new business identification, strategic
planning and identifying and negotiating mergers, acquisi-
tions, joint ventures and strategic alliances. During each of
the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, the
Company incurred expenses of $96,000 in connection with
this agreement.

Effective January 1, 2001, the Company entered into a con-
sulting agreement with a director. The consulting agreement
has an initial term of two years and is terminable by either
party with 30 days notice. Under the agreement, the consult-
ant is to be paid $15,000 per month for which the consultant
provides services for the Company including serving on the
management committees for Fund |, Fund Il and any subsequent
funds and any other tasks and assignments requested by the
chief executive officer. During the year ended December 31,
2001, the Company incurred expenses of $180,000 in con-
nection with this agreement.

The Company pays EGI, an affiliate under common control of
the chairman of the board of directors, for certain corporate
services provided to the Company. These services include
consulting on legal matters, tax matters, risk management,
and investor relations. During the years ended December 31,
2001, 2000 and 1999, the Company incurred $100,000,
$85,000 and $86,000, respectively, of expenses in connec-
tion with these services.

During the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, the
Company, through two of its acquired subsidiaries, earned
asset management fees pursuant to agreements with entities
in which two of the executive officers and directors of the
Company have an equity inferest and serve as officers, mem-
bers or as a general partner thereof. During the years ended
December 31, 2000 and 1999, the Company earned $16,000
and $391,000, respectively, from such agreements, which have
been included in the consolidated statements of operations.
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22, Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

The Company leases premises and equipment under operating
leases with various expiration dates. Minimum annual rental
payments at December 31, 2001 are as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31, 2002 $ 838
Year ending December 31, 2003 839
Year ending December 31, 2004 927
Year ending December 31, 2005 209
Year ending December 31, 2006 909
Thereafter 1,363

$5,785

Rent expense for office space and equipment amounted to
$852,000, $1,017,000 and $470,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Litigation

In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to
various legal proceedings and claims, the resolution of which,
in management's opinion, will not have a material adverse

effect on the consolidated financial position or the results of
operations of the Company.

Employment Agreements

The Company had employment agreements with two of
its executive officers in 2001, one of which expired on

February 1, 2002.

The employment agreement with the chief executive officer
provides for five-year terms of employment commencing as of
July 15, 1997. Such agreement contains extension options
that extend such agreements automatically unless terminated
by notice, as defined, by either party. The employment agree-
ment provides for a base annual salary of $500,000, which
has been increased to $600,000, and will be increased each
calendar year to reflect increases in the cost of living and will
otherwise be subject to increase at the discretion of the board
of directors. The executive officer is also entitled to annual
incentive cash bonuses to be determined by the board of
directors based on individual performance and the profitabil-
ity of the Company and are participants in the Incentive Stock
Plan and other employee benefit plans of the Company.

The employment agreement with the chief operating officer pro-
vided for a term of employment commencing as of August 15,
1998 and expiring on January 2, 2002, and provides for an
automatic extension, subject to certain notice provisions. The




employment agreement provided for o base annual salary of
$350,000, which was increased each calendar year to reflect
increases in the cost of living. The employment agreement also
provided for annual incentive cash bonuses for calendar years
1999 through 2001 to be determined by the board of direc-
tors based on individual performance and the profitability of
the Company, provided that the minimum of each of said three
annual incentive bonuses shall be no less than $750,000.
The executive was entitled to participate in employee benefit
plans of the Company at levels determined by the board of
directors and commensurate with his position and receives
Company provided life and disability insurance. In accordance
with the agreement, the executive was granted, pursuant to the
Incentive Stock Plan, options to purchase 100,000 shares of
Class A Common Stock with an exercise price of $9.00 imme-
diately vested and exercisable as of the date of the agreement.
The Company also agreed to grant, pursuant fo the Incentive
Stock Plan, fully vested shares of Class A Common Stock,
50,000 shares on January 1, 1999 and 100,000 shares on
each of the three successive anniversaries thereof.

Effective May 7, 2001, the Company revised the terms of
this employment agreement with the chief operating officer.
Pursuant to the revised employment agreement, the chief
operating officer was granted options to purchase 50,000
shares of Class A Common Stock concurrent with the signing
of the agreement with an exercise price of $5.00 per share
which vest one third on each of the following dates: May 7,
2002, May 7, 2003 and May 7, 2004. Under the terms of
the revised employment agreement, the executive officer
received 50,000 fully vested shares of Class A Common
Stock and a cash payment of $250,000 on February 1,
2002 in lieu of 100,000 fully vested shares of Class A
Common Stock which were to be issued on January 1, 2002
under the terms of the employment agreement in effect prior
to the revision. The revised employment agreement expired

on February 1, 2002.

25. Segment Reporting

As the Company manages its operations as one segment, sep-
arate segment reporting is not presented for 2001, 2000 and
1999 as the financial information for that segment is the same
as the information in the consolidated financial statements.

41

24. Risk Factors

The Company’s assets are subject to various risks that can
affect results, including the level and volatility of prevailing
interest rates and credit spreads, adverse changes in general
economic conditions and real estate markets, the deteriora-
tion of credit quality of borrowers and the risks associated
with the ownership and operation of real estate. Any signifi-
cant compression of the spreads of the interest rates earned
on intereskearning assets over the interest rates paid on inter-
estbearing liabilities could have a material adverse effect on
the Company’s operating results as could adverse develop-
ments in the availability of desirable loan and investment
opportunities and the ability to obtain and maintain targeted
levels of leverage and borrowing costs. Adverse changes in
national and regional economic conditions can have an
effect on real estate values increasing the risk of undercollat-
eralization to the extent that the fair market value of proper-
ties serving as collateral security for the Company’s assets
are reduced. Numerous factors, such as adverse changes in
local market conditions, competition, increases in operating
expenses and uninsured losses, can affect a property owner’s
ability to maintain or increase revenues to cover operating
expenses and the debt service on the property’s financing
and, consequently, lead to a deterioration in credit quality or
a loan default and reduce the value of the Company’s assets.
In addition, the yield to maturity on the Company’s CMBS
assets are subject to the default and loss experience on the
underlying mortgage loans, as well as by the rate and fiming
of payments of principal. If there are realized losses on the
underlying loans, the Company may not recover the full
amount, or possibly, any of its initial investment in the
affected CMBS asset. To the extent there are prepayments on
the underlying mortgage loans as a result of refinancing at
lower rates, the Company’s CMBS assets may be retired sub-
stantially earlier than their stated maturities leading to rein-
vestment in lower yielding assets. There can be no assurance
that the Company’s assets will not experience any of the fore-
going risks or thet, as a result of any such experience, the
Company will not suffer a reduced return on investment or an
investment loss.
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25. Summary of Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following is @ summary of the unaudited quarterly results of operctions for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000

and 1999 (in thousands except per share datay:

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
20017
Revenues $19,180 $19,849 $20,824 $18,807
Net income $ 1,724 $ 2,675 $ 2,899 $ 2,072
Preferred Stock dividends $ 404 $§ 125 $ 77 $ -
Met income per share of Common Stock:
Basic $ 0.06 $ 0.13 $ 0.15 $ 0.11
Biluted $ 0.06 $ 0.10 $ Q.11 $ 0.10
2000
Revenues $ 24,220 $ 23,722 $ 22,553 $ 23,697
Net income $ 2919 $ 1,154 $ 2,417 $ 3,271
Preferred Stock dividends $ 404 $ 404 $ 404 $ 403
Net income per share of Common Stock:
Basic $ 010 $ 003 $ 009 $ 013
Diluted $ 009 $ 003 $ 0.08 $ 010
1999
Revenues $ 25,865 $ 22,930 $ 24,338 $ 34,513
Net income $ 3,792 $ 3,025 $ 3,050 $ 7,209
Preferred Stock dividends $ 784 $ 784 $ 403 $ 404
Net income per share of Common Stock:
Basic $ 016 $ 012 $ omn $ 028
Diluted $ 012 $ o010 $ 010 $ 020

26. Subsequent Events

On February 28, 2002, the Company’s $355 million credit
facility matured and the Term Redeemable Securities Contract
became due and settled, upon which event the Company
entered info a new term redeemable securities contract and
two new repurchase obligations.

The new term redeemable securities contract was utilized to
finance certain of the assets that were previously financed with
the maturing credit facility and Term Redeemable Securities
Contract. The new term redeemable securities contract, which
allows for a maximum financing of $75 million, is recourse to
the Company. The new term redeemable securities contract
has a two-year term with an automatic one-year amortizing
extension option, if not otherwise extended. The Company
incurred an initial commitment fee of $750,000 upon the
signing of the new term redeemable securities contract and
the Company pays interest at specified rates over LIBOR. The
new term redeemable securities contract contains customary
representations and warranties, covenants and conditions
and events of default.

An affiliate of the counterparty to the new term redeemable
securities contract also holds an interest rate swap with the
Company for the full duration of the BB CMBS Porffolio, thereby
providing o hedge for interest rate risk. This agreement had
a mutual put option for the value of the hedge exercisable
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in February 2002. This mutual put has been extended for
an additional three years to February 2005. The notional
values of the swap, $137,812,000 at December 31, 2001,
increased under the ferms of the original swap agreement
to $169,090,000 in February 2002.

One of the new repurchase obligations, with a AAA-rated
counterparty, was utilized to finance CMBS securities that
were previously financed with the maturing credit facility and
original Term Redeemable Securities Contract. At the closing,
the Company sold CMBS assets with a book and market
value of $109,220,000 and has a liability to repurchase
these assets for $76,455,000 and is non-recourse to the
Company. This repurchase obligation has a one yecr term
and the liability balance bears interest at specified rates over
LIBOR based upon each asset included in the obligation.

The other new repurchase agreement, with a securities
dealer, was also utilized to finance CMBS securities that
were previously financed with the maturing credit facility
and original Term Redeemable Securities Contract. At the.
closing, the Company sold CMBS assets with a book and
market value of $44,752,000 and has a liability to repur-
chase these assets for $28,056,000 and is non-recourse
to the Company. This repurchase obligation has a 30-day
rolling term and the liability balance bears interest at
specified rates over LIBOR based upon each asset included
in the obligation.
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